Trinity College Digital Repository

Masters Theses

Student Scholarship

Summer 8-29-2023

"Making it" in America: Understanding the American Dream in Trump's America

Dayla Weems dayla.weems@trincoll.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalrepository.trincoll.edu/grad



Recommended Citation

Weems, Dayla, ""Making it" in America: Understanding the American Dream in Trump's America" (2023). *Masters Theses.* 37. https://digitalrepository.trincoll.edu/grad/37

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Scholarship at Trinity College Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of Trinity College Digital Repository.



Thesis

"Making it" in America:

Understanding the American Dream in Trump's America

Submitted by Dayla Weems (B.A., Trinity College, 2020)

In Partial Fulfilment of Requirements for the Degree of Master of Arts in American Studies Summer 2023

Unauthorized reproduction prohibited by copyright law.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	3
Cast of Characters	4
Introduction	5
Literature Review	7
Methodology	8
Chapter Breakdown	9
Chapter 1: "Making It" as a Hispanic Conservative	11
Into The Mystique	11
Political Landscape of West Texas	16
Shaping Ana Maria's Apolitical Identity	
Becoming a Hispanic Conservative	22
Impact of COVID-19	
Chapter 2: Crude Realities: The Untold Story of Women in the West Texas Oil Industry	
Throwing the Lifeline	
Big Oil in West Texas	40
Women in the Industry	47
Chapter 3: Degrees of Opportunity: The Ambivalent Approach to Education and Social Mo	shility in
West Texas	-
	60
West Texas	60 60
West Texas Navigating Education and Industry in Rural West Texas	60 60 62
West Texas Navigating Education and Industry in Rural West Texas Impact of the Education Industry on Rural West Texas Communities	60 60 62 66
West Texas Navigating Education and Industry in Rural West Texas Impact of the Education Industry on Rural West Texas Communities The Traditionalists	
West Texas Navigating Education and Industry in Rural West Texas Impact of the Education Industry on Rural West Texas Communities The Traditionalists The Oil Industry: The Primary Route to Upward Mobility	60 60 62 66 70 72
West Texas Navigating Education and Industry in Rural West Texas Impact of the Education Industry on Rural West Texas Communities The Traditionalists The Oil Industry: The Primary Route to Upward Mobility Social Status and Its Connection to Financial Freedom	60 60 62 66 70 72 75
West Texas Navigating Education and Industry in Rural West Texas Impact of the Education Industry on Rural West Texas Communities The Traditionalists The Oil Industry: The Primary Route to Upward Mobility Social Status and Its Connection to Financial Freedom Rethinking Success	
West Texas Navigating Education and Industry in Rural West Texas	
West Texas Navigating Education and Industry in Rural West Texas Impact of the Education Industry on Rural West Texas Communities The Traditionalists The Oil Industry: The Primary Route to Upward Mobility Social Status and Its Connection to Financial Freedom Rethinking Success Epilogue	
West Texas Navigating Education and Industry in Rural West Texas Impact of the Education Industry on Rural West Texas Communities The Traditionalists The Oil Industry: The Primary Route to Upward Mobility Social Status and Its Connection to Financial Freedom Rethinking Success Epilogue End Notes Bibliographies Introduction	60 60 62 66 70 75 75 75 84 93 93
West Texas Navigating Education and Industry in Rural West Texas Impact of the Education Industry on Rural West Texas Communities The Traditionalists The Oil Industry: The Primary Route to Upward Mobility Social Status and Its Connection to Financial Freedom Rethinking Success Epilogue End Notes Bibliographies	60 60 62 66 70 72 75 75 75 84 93 93 93
West Texas. Navigating Education and Industry in Rural West Texas Impact of the Education Industry on Rural West Texas Communities. The Traditionalists The Oil Industry: The Primary Route to Upward Mobility. Social Status and Its Connection to Financial Freedom Rethinking Success. Epilogue Bibliographies Introduction Chapter 1	60 60 62 66 70 72 75 75 75 75 93 93 93 95 97

Acknowledgements

Writing this thesis has been a journey, one of trials, errors, setback, delay, denial, but ultimately, success. I want to thank God, for giving me the grace to complete this work with confidence. I want to thank him also for giving me destiny helpers throughout all stages of the process. Ones that have pushed me to be a better writer, advocate, and person. Thank you to my family, and loved ones who supported me in every decision I made along the way, and for sharing their vulnerable stories with me. You are who this work is dedicated to, you believed in me when I felt like no one else did, and especially when I did not believe in myself. Thank you to my friends and mentors who did not allow me to quit so close to the finish line – and for reminding me of the importance of the work I have done. Thank you to the American Studies department for giving me the opportunity to share this untold story of my hometown and the region of where I come from. It has brought me the closure that I did not know I needed. Lastly, but certainly not least, thank you to the people behind the stories told in this thesis. Your vulnerability and authenticity are something I am honored to have been entrusted with. Thank you for sharing your voices and stories to beyond the fields of West Texas.

Cast of Characters

Ana Maria Jimenez – 42-year-old Mexican American woman, owner of The Mystique, a salon in Fort Stockton, Texas.

Stephanie Carrasco – 33-year-old Mexican American woman, Banker for Charles Schwab, resides in El Paso, Texas.

Maricela Fuentez – Middle aged Mexican American woman, oil field Operations Manager for Roy's Sand Co. In Midland, Texas.

David Whaley – Black 47-year-old man, Educator who has gone back and forth between the Oil Industry and Education Industry for work, lives in Fort Stockton, Texas.

Emmanuel Rojas – 21-year-old young adult who recently decided to withdraw from his First-Year at the University of Texas at the Permian Basin (UTPB) and now works in the Oil Industry.

Introduction

The first beams of sunlight crept through the window of my childhood bedroom, casting a warm glow over the familiar surroundings. I took a deep breath and smiled, feeling a sense of comfort and belonging that I had not experienced in weeks after the United States declared a national emergency. I returned to West Texas in March of 2020 after Trinity College closed its campus while I was pursuing a master's degree in American Studies. Growing up in West Texas, I was captivated by the idea of the American Dream. The notion that hard work and determination could lead to success, regardless of one's background or circumstances, was powerful. However, as I matured, I came to understand that the American Dream was far from a simple or straightforward concept. It was complicated by factors such as race, class, and gender, and influenced by the unique history and culture of different regions across the country.

I recognized that to truly comprehend the American Dream, I needed to focus on the region that I knew best - West Texas. This area was often neglected by mainstream media and academic research, but it held particular significance for me. It was where I had grown up, where I had learned the value of hard work and perseverance, and where I had first contemplated the American Dream. As I set out on my research, I was both excited and apprehensive. I understood that given the times, it would be difficult to address questions about race, class, and gender. I also knew that I would need to somehow immerse myself in local communities to truly comprehend the issues that defined this region in the midst of a global pandemic. Nevertheless, I was determined to see my research through to the end, knowing that it could make a real difference in the lives of people in West Texas and across America.

As I delved deeper into my research, I realized just how intricate the issues facing West Texas were. The impact of the oil industry on the local environment was a significant concern, as was the struggle to portray a specific political identity to achieve upward mobility. In addition, gender issues in the workplace, particularly for women in the oil industry, were a major issue, as was the ambivalent approach to education that many people in West Texas had. Despite these challenges, I remained committed to my research. I recognized that comprehending the American Dream in the context of West Texas was vital to understanding America as a whole. West Texas was a microcosm of the diverse communities that made up America, with its unique struggles and triumphs. By comprehending what the American Dream meant to the people of West Texas, I believed that I could shed light on the broader social and political issues that were shaping the country.

As I set out on my journey, I felt a sense of purpose and excitement tempered only by the knowledge of the difficult road ahead. However, I was ready for the challenge. I was ready to confront the complexities of the American Dream, to grapple with the contradictions and challenges that defined it, and to ultimately shed light on what it meant to make it in America in the Trump era. In the end, this story, as I believe, is reflective of America itself. It was a tale of hope and perseverance, of struggle and triumph. As I set out to uncover the secrets of the American Dream in West Texas, I knew that I was embarking on a journey that would change me forever. Making it in America: Understanding the American Dream in Trump's America seeks to explore the complexities and contradictions of the American Dream in West Texas. Focusing on the making of Hispanic conservative political identities, women working in the oil industry, and an ambivalent approach to education, this thesis aims to shed light on the challenges faced by those seeking success in the Trump era.

The research concentrates on a period spanning from the 2016 presidential election to the present day, a time of significant political and social change in America. Through a combination

of personal narratives and in-depth analysis, this thesis examines the experiences of individuals from diverse backgrounds who are striving to achieve the American Dream in West Texas. The research questions this thesis analyzes, and answers include: How do individuals from different racial, ethnic, and socioeconomic backgrounds navigate the challenges of achieving upward mobility in West Texas? What factors contribute to the formation of conservative political identities among Hispanic communities in West Texas? How do issues of gender, race, and class intersect in the workplace, particularly in the oil industry? And how does the education system in West Texas both facilitate and hinder social mobility? This research is centered around the personal narratives of individuals like Ana Maria Jimenez, Stephanie Carrasco, Maricela Fuentez, David Whaley, and Emmanuel Rojas. Their stories provide insight into the complex realities of the American Dream in West Texas and highlight the unique challenges faced by those seeking success in this region. Through their experiences, this thesis aims to contribute to a deeper understanding of the American Dream in Trump's America and to offer insights into how we can view West Texas as a quintessential piece of the American pie.¹

Literature Review

There has not been a lot of published scholarship describing West Texas as the heartland of America. Truthfully, scholarship on West Texas, in general, is scarce. Most research on West Texas revolves around the land's natural resources, such as groundwater, oil or gas. Other scholarship perhaps includes commentary on the US/Mexico border, however, that tends to concentrate more on the southwestern region as opposed to West Texas at large. This project is one of scholarly reporting, as per Andrew Ross.² My thesis combines cultural analysis with accessible narrative-driven storytelling to address a broader audience. If considering this work as such, there are several books that engage the issue of the American Dream in times of despair or

in the shadows of downsizing and deindustrialization such as: *Nickel and Dimed* by Barbara Ehrenreich,³ *Evicted* by Matthew Desmond⁴ and *Janesville: An American Story* by Amy Goldstein.⁵ These works and those that are similar almost all focus on the rust belt as America's Heartland, haunted by the absence of industry. My work turns attention to a heartland that is organized differently. It is a historically multiracial landscape in America's borderland that is organized around the oil economy. How does turning attention to this different heartland offer a different story about the American Dream or "Making It" amid so-called despair?⁶

Methodology

To compile this body of work, much thought was put into the type of research needed to express the sentiments of the residents of West Texas. Because West Texas is under researched, my methodology primarily consisted of original research through ethnographic interviews, primary source documents, oral histories, and visual or physical analysis. My secondary sources were used to substantiate my argument and relevancy of the research I produced, not necessarily to expound on research already conducted about West Texan ideals of labor relations, social mobility, race relations, nationality and political identity. I selected qualitative research because it gave me the opportunity to create an exposition as opposed to an investigation. Rather than having my research and interviews be solely inquisitive, I was able to piece together a variety of perspectives from West Texans. This allowed me to gather a more wholistic story as opposed to relying solely on my interpretation of happenings. I selected respective individuals based on their relevancy to the topics I explored in addition to their availability and willingness to share their story during the sensitive time of the pandemic.

Over the course of time beginning my research in 2019, I conducted a total of twenty-two interviews with West Texan residents. These were entrepreneurs, oil field workers, school board

members, educational administrators, college dropouts, and general community members. Their individual stories are what has made my work possible to complete. Initially, these interviews were conducted in-person, however due to the outbreak of COVID-19 and the public health crisis, I pivoted to conduct these interviews online and over the phone. Prior to each interview, I shared the goal of my work, topic I was interested in exploring and sample questions. Each individual interviewed was given the opportunity to answer questions, ask questions, or, if uncomfortable, given the opportunity to only answer what they felt comfortable with. Everyone was also offered the opportunity to remain anonymous given the nature of this work and subject.

If it were not for everyone's generosity of time during the midst of me losing research during the pandemic, my research would be left incomplete and futile. Prior to the pandemic, I believed my research would answer the question "how can one 'make it' in America?" As time went on, and the question of *how* became instable due to a failing economy. Then my question shifted. Ultimately it became "what does it mean to 'make it,' to you, in West Texas?" With representatives from a variety of walks of life as West Texans, answers differed, and yet shared few common themes.

Chapter Breakdown

Chapter 1: Making it as a Hispanic Conservative. This chapter will explore the complexities of political identities in West Texas through the personal narratives of Ana Maria Jimenez and Stephanie Carrasco. By examining how their experiences of upward mobility intersect with their political affiliations, this chapter will provide insight into the making of Hispanic conservative political identities in this region.

Chapter 2: Crude Realities: The Untold Story of Women in the West Texas Oil Industry. This chapter will share the untold story of Maricela Fuentez, an oil field operations manager for Roy's Sand Co. in Midland, Texas. Through her experiences, this chapter will examine the challenges faced by women working in the West Texas oil industry, particularly in navigating gender expectations and traditional values.

Chapter 3: Degrees of Opportunity: The Ambivalent Approach to Education and Social Mobility in West Texas. This chapter will explore the ambivalent approach to education in West Texas through the stories of David Whaley and Emmanuel Rojas. Whaley, a Black educator who has gone back and forth between the oil industry and the education industry for work, will offer insight into the challenges faced by educators in this region. Rojas, a young adult who recently left university to work in the oil industry, will provide a perspective on how the education system in West Texas both facilitates and hinders social mobility.

Chapter 1: "Making It" as a Hispanic Conservative

Into The Mystique

On an October Monday in 2019, I decided it was time to finally take a return trip to The Mystique. I was eager to meet up with my aunt, Ana Maria, who is the owner of this popular beauty salon. In desperate need of a haircut, I drove downtown to Main Street, parked my car, and gazed out of my window at the pearly white doors of the salon. I stepped out of my vehicle, onto the dusty street and sidewalk, then opened the door to the building. Laughter and Tejano music filled the air as I stepped into The Mystique. In an instant, I felt like an eight-year-old walking into The Princess Fairytale Hall at Disney World. It was hard to believe I was still in the middle of nowhere, Fort Stockton, Texas. Like Disney, going to The Mystique was a magical experience for a woman who likes a little pampering and "self-care." It is an oasis, not just for customers like me but also where especially the thirst of Hispanic cosmetologists can be quenched in the economic desert that is Fort Stockton.

As the rare successful Hispanic businesswoman, Ana Maria is the hope of what is possible. Alongside Ana Maria, The Mystique has six different stylists with their own booths. To the left is Monica, as the youngest stylist in the shop, most of her clients are trendy young people deeply concerned about social justice and social media. To the far right is Eliza whose clients tend to be older women in their late 50s and 60s. Eliza's clients keep to themselves as they enter The Mystique but may give a side-eye to some of Monica's young clients if they fail to maintain a modest hairstyle. It's always a delicate dance between various political orientations and personal behaviors, rarely discussed explicitly but always played out in the theater of style. Nevertheless, the entire Mystique team carries a spirit of entrepreneurial hustle; the stylists are known for being the best. Other Hispanic women may go to Headways, an older, more traditional salon three blocks up the street, or to another town if they have a family connection. White women from the Fort Stockton area mainly travel 100+ miles to Midland or Odessa, Texas; a town with a larger white population to get their hair done. The Mystique's presence on social media is also another reason for its success. Visitors from neighboring small towns often make a 45 minute to 1 hour drive to visit the salon. Employees at the Mystique may not be the youngest nor the most traditional stylists in town, but they carry excellence. Even Isabella, the Puerto Rican nail tech of the salon, though not Mexican like the other stylists, is known in the Mexican community for her designs. Behind Ana Maria's booth is a small clothing boutique filled with the newest western chic outfits owned by Andrea, another member of the team. As I finally approached Ana Maria's booth in the middle of the shop, she was bouncing back-and-forth with chatter. I took a deep breath and was grateful that on Columbus Day, a holiday in West Texas, Ana Maria could still squeeze me into her schedule.

Though just one of the girls, Ana Maria is known as the centerpiece of The Mystique; she is the owner, the visionary, and always up to date with the latest trends. Though Ana Maria never commanded attention to herself by being boisterous or brash, she drew people in because of the way she made others feel. Even if I was not a princess outside of The Mystique, as I took a seat in her chair, I felt like royalty. Luxurious golden wallpaper, a massive mirror, and bright magenta styling adorned her booth. If, I, or any one of her other clients felt dissatisfied, she would massage our egos with a compliment and smile trying to make sure that we got a taste of what we hoped for. Ana Maria would do anything to keep the value and spirit of this majestic place at a high-level. The Mystique was how she had made it: a physical reflection of her American dream story.

It had been a few months since we had seen each other, and I was not going to be in town very long. So I already knew I would be in her chair for at least an hour. We talked about a range of things, catching up about family and the success of the shop. But then I slowly shifted the conversation to get a sense from my aunt how she succeeded in the U.S. and what she thought it meant to "make it" more broadly, especially as a Chicana in West Texas. She immediately brought up the theme of sacrificing. Sacrificing was almost like a tradition in her family. As an immigrant to the United States from Mexico, her mother, worked extremely hard to establish the largest daycare in town. This meant late nights and long hours, but it paid off when Ana Maria's mother was recognized as Fort Stockton's businesswoman of the year in 2008.⁷

But for Ana Maria, sacrificing was more than working longer hours. In the world of beauty, she was dealing with adults and their both fragile and demanding egos. In order to keep people coming in the door, to pay the bills, and build a successful shop with the limited disposable income of many in West Texas, she also had to sacrifice a piece of herself, her personal identity. What makes Ana Maria's story is that in order to climb economically, she had to adjust her personal identity to suit the political identity that was displayed before her, in the notoriously conservative climate of West Texas. Especially as a Chicana, Ana Maria had to mute the sense of having any strong opinions, especially around the very sensitive area of politics.

While Texas is a red state, the conservative identity is not monolithic. Conservatism is broad, and there are shared values with Whites and Hispanics – even if Whites are typically the ones holding the political power. For example, strong family, religious background, supporting law enforcement, and first amendment rights are all traditional conservative values that are shared between both groups. Conservatism is not always the best label since there are differences between being conservative and being a Republican. As political scientist Geraldo Cadava points out, Hispanic "support for the Republican Party isn't new, and, seen in historical perspective, it's not surprising.⁸ But for Ana Maria who is a Chicana in West Texas, and her predominately Chicana clients, a beautician's strong political position to the left or even too far right could result in a loss of revenue. So, Ana Maria became an adept listener and an observer of human behavior; performing the idea that she either had no political affiliation or held the same views of whoever was in her chair. Her success, her economic viability was built on salon visitors never realizing they were talking to a mirror. It was built on reflecting to clients whatever they wanted to see while Ana Maria made her distinct self invisible, especially concerning politics.

When I asked Ana Maria about how she usually handles political conversations with clients she responded, "if we share the same views, I can, you know, intermingle with them. But if we don't have the same political views, I just let them speak and then I hold my piece."⁹ Each morning as Ana Maria is getting ready, she is painting her face, determining which shade of red, blue, or something in-between to put on, and making detailed assessments of who she will be, all based on who she's talking to that day. She reviews their political beliefs, their stories, their opinions, to the point where she realizes that years have passed, and she has neglected her own and become apolitical. She stated "I've had to shy so far away from it that I think it's pulled me away from being active in that world."¹⁰ When in conversation about politics Ana Maria does not claim a political side because she does not have one, she simply mirrors the political identity of her clients and "[goes] with whatever's put out in front of [her]."¹¹ So exactly what was "out in front" of Ana Maria in this sleepy West Texas town? What is the political terrain of West Texas that Ana Maria navigates daily and how does it shape her hustle for success in the role as a mirror?

West Texas is a region where conservatism is in the soil. How a person politically identifies – be it as Republican, Conservative, or apolitical is a secondary conversation because conservatism is the pathway for economic and social security. The skill or strategy of mirroring mainstream political identity is a strategy for many of those who we consider minorities in the southwest. I say perceive as minorities because, unlike most popular accounts, let's be clear: talking about West Texas is talking about Hispanic Americans. They are a population that makes up more than 65% of the entire West Texan region.¹² Therefore, to be Hispanic, conservative and from West Texas is not a farfetched idea. In fact, Hispanics in West Texas have long engaged in conservative practices to maintain the status quo. Why? Because while Hispanic Americans make up the majority of the West Texan population, they hold only a fraction of the political power that's in the hands of their white counterparts. While this is not a story about politics, this is a story about assuming a political identity to access power; as a pathway to upward mobility for Hispanic Americans, who are the numerical majority, in West Texas.

The shaping of Ana Maria's mirror identity was not an anomaly; many people in West Texas have their political identities shaped by their work. In a place where conservatism rules the political arena, Ana Maria revealed that specifically many small business owners "have to keep it neutral" in order to retain customers, she's been conditioned to view political conversations as a business risk.¹³ She explained: "that [conversation is] not something I'm interested in. That's not something I'm going to look forward to," so she mirrors back what is out in front of her: a landscape of conservative values that go beyond simply electoral politics.¹⁴ These values include: law and order, religion, pro-military, strong border control etc. While Ana Maria may identify as someone who is apolitical, she mirrors back conservative values to her clients given the overwhelming ethos that pervades West Texas. This chapter will explore the West Texan political landscape through sharing the stories of two Hispanic women on their journey of upward mobility and how their work complicates and shapes their political identity. One claims to have no political affiliation which I define as apolitical, and the other identifies as a Republican.

Political Landscape of West Texas

West Texas is a loosely defined region within the state of Texas, it is comprised of the counties west of the city of San Antonio and north of the Rio Grande River.¹⁵ The political terrain of West Texas spans across the 16th and 23rd congressional districts. While district 23 contains the western outskirts of San Antonio and the bulk of western Texas, district 16 contains residents in the El Paso area.¹⁶ Fort Stockton is located in the middle of the 23rd district, 312+ miles from San Antonio, Texas and about 240 miles from El Paso, Texas. District 23 is predominantly rural, with one of the lowest population densities in Texas.¹⁷ Its political map is a reflection of the socio-political sphere; designed to swing votes towards the more populous areas of the district. Western San Antonio residents tend to be the biggest influencers in elections. For example, before 1993, the district was Democratic because the congressional map included a mostly democratic portion of western San Antonio.¹⁸ Years later the district began to elect Republicans conveniently after the congressional map was redrawn, including a portion of republican western San Antonio.¹⁹

When San Antonio is removed from the scope of voters in West Texas, shades of blue quickly fade away. In fact, West Texas is widely known for being varied shades of red. Family values, religion, and the oil economy are the strongholds of West Texas. In almost every town, you will find a school, a church, and an oil derrick. This is because residents hold these things at a prominent level of importance. Political engagement is not a priority unless a person lives in a space where their values do not align with the policy makers. What is interesting is that most state politicians do not campaign in West Texas, they feel that the population is too scarce, and the region is too broad to cover. Yet in a conservative political ticket, you will find the topics of oil, religion, education as central to their platform.

Other businesses are dependent on the disposable incomes that are generated by Big Oil. Political affiliation is largely tied to entrepreneurial interests, as an employee or small business owner, to be in good standing with stakeholders in this industry, one must support the oil and gas industry at all costs. Even though the oil field is not service based in the way cosmetology is, your ability to be employed is contingent on your reputation. Openly supporting a politician who is for green energy would not be a promising idea for those wanting to maintain clientele in a region dominated by the oil and gas industry. So, again, people's true political views are hushed at the job (or hushed *by* the job).

Politics in Fort Stockton are not as active or dynamic as they might be in a bigger city. Things are straightforward. The dominant political party has been Republican. Most of the politicians in the city are also small business owners. The current Mayor owns several car washes in the region, and three of the five city council members are also business owners.²⁰ The trend has been that in order to have a successful business, one must be aligned with the most popular political party or at least not make their political opinions known. In an economically desolate place, people vote with the party that aligns with where they hope to be. Ana Maria, who was born and raised in Fort Stockton, grew to understand the correlation of being a business owner, and how one's political views can help or hurt that business.

Shaping Ana Maria's Apolitical Identity

As a cosmetologist, so much of who Ana Maria is, was shaped by the events that happened to her when she was younger. Ana Maria grew up in Fort Stockton, a small, middle-of-nowhere town in West Texas. In big sky country, everyone is familiar with Fort Stockton; though the town population barely rises above 8,000 people, outsiders know the good places to grab something to eat, they know the historical park, the famous roadrunner Pisano Pete, and where the local Comanche Springs are.²¹ Fort Stockton had many opportunities for events, as a small town with a predominantly Mexican population, homecoming and prom were not the only major dates on the calendar. Though not directly on the border, families often make road trips to Mexico for school shopping, prom dress hunting and to visit family. About 75% of the population is of Hispanic or Latino decent and the majority of the population has roots in Mexico.²²

15-year-olds book out the town's Civic Center for Quinceanera's for half the weekends of the year. This created the perfect opportunity for Ana Maria to build her skills. As Ana Maria developed her craft and people saw her work at weddings, proms, homecoming, games, and Quinceanera's, she became the go-to girl for cosmetics. She became *the* cosmetologist, the "MUA" (make-up artist) before that was even a coined term. But her success wasn't inevitable. In fact, it seems like Anna Maria was always hustling. She started out doing people's hair inbetween classes and sports practice. It was amid the hustle when she came to a realization that she could actually make a living for herself in the cosmetology industry.

Most women in Fort Stockton who do not have a degree and would like to work, gravitate to service based businesses, the retail industry, administrative support for businesses or the school district. That's not to say there are no women in agriculture or oil, their presence is rarer in those industries. For Ana Maria, doing hair became a vehicle to control her future. Cosmetology has been her safety net; she was able to create her own schedule doing something she was naturally gifted at; it gave her space when she didn't know what else to do. Despite being in the small town of Fort Stockton, Ana Maria was exposed to cosmetology early in her life through working underneath her aunt who is also in the business.²³ Ana Maria enjoyed doing the little things: picking up hair coloring, getting the chance to snip off split ends every here and there. In high school, she decided to take the cosmetology profession more seriously. Fortunately for Ana Maria, a cosmetology program had started at her high school.²⁴ She had the opportunity to take classes and graduate with a cosmetology certificate. She had already been exposed to the industry through her aunt; taking advantage of those classes in high school was just icing on the cake.

What she did not realize, though, was how much, in this industry of image, her life, her success, would be shaped by others' views or opinions. In a small town, Ana Maria's best marketing strategy was word of mouth. Her career in the industry took flight in the early 2000s, before social media shifted how cosmetology worked.²⁵ Though Ana Maria would not consider herself a people-pleaser, she is competitive; reviews or lack thereof shaped her exposure and success in the industry. Now, the community loves her, they love to give her the latest "chisme" or gossip, they update her about life with their kids, or get advice on prom dresses and makeup looks. Her success is dependent on giving people what they want, not only through hair and nails but in the refuge that The Mystique provides. And I loved being there but, until recently, I had missed so much of the dynamic work lying just beneath the surface of hairspray, make-up, and glam.

"I was always taught 'you don't.""

One of the easiest ways to shy away a customer is to put them in an uncomfortable situation for a long period of time. Ana Maria is very gifted with coloring hair, especially bleaching; this process can take up to four to five hours. But she was perhaps even more gifted at creating a sense of intimacy, cataloguing the lives of her clients while never revealing much of anything about herself. When I asked Ana Maria how well she gets to know her clients, she responded:

"I have a close relationship with every client that I have... by the time they leave [the salon], we're friends. I've never had a client that I don't know nothing about. And when they come in...I remember the last conversation we had. So, I check up, you know, "has your daughter had her baby?" "Did your daughter move already?" You know? I always know what's going on with my clients, like I always know..."²⁶

Like the old saying goes there are two conversations that Ana Maria has kept "totally out the door": political opinions and religious views.²⁷ She discussed this from a business perspective initially, mentioning that she never wanted potential clients who identify differently than she does to feel unwelcome in the shop. She never wanted there to be "talk about 'I'm not going in there because they're there. You know, they support Trump, and we hate Trump!"²⁸ Ana Maria has done her best not to engage in politically charged conversations with clients and potential clients, she revealed, "you know, I've been doing this since I was 18... I was always taught you don't."²⁹

Unfortunately, this has led her down a path of little to no engagement in the policies that shape her life and her business, down to the local level. When I asked Ana Maria how she identifies politically, she responded: "It's horrible to say, but I don't even vote... it's been years, years since I've voted. I don't vote for anything, not county, city, national, nothing."³⁰ In the conversation she kept returning to the busyness of her work, as a single mother of two, recently remarried, she is consumed by work, simply trying to support her family. Oftentimes she's only

focused on what is right in front of her. If an opportunity is presented to give an opinion about politics, she'll simply remove herself from the conversation by leaving the room, unless the client initiates the conversation, and they share similar views.

Though Ana Maria would not consider herself someone with any solid political stances, she is opinionated about the issue of immigration on the U.S.-Mexico border. These views stem from her understanding and interpretation of her family history. In the late 1950s Ana Maria's grandfather, Romelio, traveled from Chihuahua, Mexico to install telephone poles across rural areas in West Texas. Romelio crossed the US-Mexico border with legal documentation for work. His goal was to save up enough funds from work to send for his wife and four children and establish his family in the United States. Nearly a decade later, when Ana Maria's mother was ten years old, she immigrated with her mother and three siblings to the United States. Though she never had the opportunity to finish high school, she received a shot at "making it" by establishing a daycare in town. After establishing herself as an integral member of the community in Fort Stockton, the entrepreneurial spirit was passed down to the next generation.

Ana Maria believes her family's migration to the United States is the correct way to enter the country, despite a person's circumstance.³¹ As a first-generation immigrant she believes that those doing illegal border crossing now are vastly different than those who came before her. In her perspective they are not trying to "make it" in America, they are trying to, in her words, "receive handouts for government assistance."³² Ana Maria is not completely against government assistance, as she received assistance from the Economic Development Board in the process of building The Mystique. The board gave her \$1,500 for each person she employed, and she employed seven people.³³ But she has disassociated herself from the links between her government assistance and the "bad immigrant build" solely because her family had legal documentation to begin work, and legal documentation of citizenship when they received their residency.

Despite her opinion, in the rural towns like Fort Stockton, immigration has not been looked upon as something negative. For decades, what we today would call illegal immigrants provided the backbone for the dominant farm economy, as a cheap labor force. Ana Maria's family, once they migrated from Mexico worked on the many ranches and farms on the outskirts of Fort Stockton while Romelio serviced telephone poles. It was a familiar landscape for them, being from ranch towns in Chihuahua. They could see cows, horses and small farms within a 10-mile radius. In fact, just 30 miles north of Fort Stockton is Coyanosa, Texas, one of the largest suppliers in the state of watermelons, cantaloupe and pumpkins. Ironically, one problem the farms Ana Maria's mother worked have recently faced is finding enough workers to man the fields.³⁴ While the actual Fort Stockton history around border crossing is complicated, in more direct border towns such as El Paso, opinions about immigration are polarizing.

Becoming a Hispanic Conservative

Stephanie Carrasco was born and raised in the closest major city to Fort Stockton: El Paso, Texas, a border town only five minutes away from Juarez, Mexico.³⁵ Her father's family has been in the states for five to six generations and her mother's family between two to three generations.³⁶ In most respects, the border crossed them. Stephanie's maternal grandfather was a hard worker who spent most days doing strenuous work in the cotton fields.³⁷ Achieving the dream for his generation, according to Stephanie, was simply to get to the United States.³⁸ Her maternal grandfather's generation was not concerned with building generational wealth or about an education, it was simply to "survive and sustain" the dream of living in America.³⁹

Stephanie's parents took over her father's family construction business that was founded the generation before.

Maintaining a family business in a border city unfortunately became a financial struggle. As a border town, many immigrants take advantage of opportunities to work in the city.⁴⁰ So, there is a lot of traffic of Mexican citizens coming to nearby border towns, like El Paso for work. On early morning commutes, people can see the lines for Mexican workers waiting to cross the bridge into the United States for work.⁴¹ It is often backed up with people waiting to get clearance to make their way to El Paso causing traffic delays. Immigrants like these are also often seen by conservatives as the reason why their city is overcrowded, or not maintained. Stephanie explained "many times my parents' business had to compete with others who were hiring [undocumented] immigrants as workers and paying them low wages to save money."⁴² Rather than seeing this as exploitation of people from her ethnic background, she was taught to see this process as a business threat. Her parents never hired undocumented immigrants and spent more money paying their workers a higher wage.⁴³ This created a strain on the family business, especially during low economic seasons, and pushed Stephanie to redefine what the American dream was to her.

As Stephanie grew older, she did not want to rely on the fluctuating economy of the family business, what she desired in a career was to "establish something consistent."⁴⁴ She started as a bank teller in her early 20s and moved up quickly in the ranks because she had the desire to provide more for her children than what her parents were able to provide for her.⁴⁵ Similar to Ana Maria, her economic success was tied to the political terrain of West Texas. Stephanie began working at Wells Fargo Bank in Midland, Texas, a predominantly white town close to Fort Stockton.⁴⁶ Midland is notably Republican; it's the hometown of former President

George W. Bush. Conservatism in Midland is different than that of the small-town Fort Stockton because whites are the majority.⁴⁷ In Midland, white people may be comfortable in sharing an opinion that can be perceived as politically incorrect. However, in small towns like Fort Stockton or areas where there is a large Hispanic and Latino population, there is precaution in sharing political opinions due to the fact Hispanic and Latinos make up the majority, not whites.

Though Stephanie is Mexican, most of her coworkers in Midland were not, therefore when they engaged in conversation, they spoke no different than when they would have conversations with other White people. The banking world exposed her to people who grew up in completely different circumstances than she and the generations that came before her.⁴⁸ One of the biggest differences was generational wealth.⁴⁹ Stephanie admitted that before banking she was more liberal:

"That's really just what [I] knew [when I] grew up. So, when I left [El Paso] I just got exposed to...a completely different mindset. When I came back to El Paso everybody's like, 'whoa, you're like this mega Republican now, like what happened?' And I said, 'hey, you know, I've been able to sit down with some very wealthy people and, you know, their mindsets and their values, just really align with what I believe in and what I think is right."⁵⁰

Through banking in Midland, she was able to see grandparents, parents, and children who came from one family have a large set of assets that changed hands between family members.⁵¹ This was different from her family that was just able to barely survive the move from Mexico to America. Her embrace of explicit republican identity was aspirational, it aligned with the lifestyle she wanted to secure.

Stephanie also saw the importance of having assets such as homes, IRAs and a savings account.⁵² On the one hand, her clients were able to have more opportunities for expanding their wealth simply because of their credit score. On the other hand, some of the people she grew up around were skeptical of banks and having someone else hold money and assets. Her loyalty to

the Republican party increased because of a nexus of beliefs about US–Latin American relations like the United States as the protector of freedom in the world and market-driven capitalism as the best path toward upward mobility.⁵³ As she built a career as a successful banker in Midland, she continued to surround herself with people from the financial sector who espoused explicit Republican ideals.

She learned that there was more to the American dream than simply paying off a mortgage and having a car. She began to learn the benefits of investing in stocks, real estate, and an education.⁵⁴ Abiding by more of the principles she was taught in banking, Stephanie associated her growing financial success with her evolving conservative political stance. Her belief system changed because she was able to provide two to three times more for her children than what her parents provided for in her childhood.⁵⁵ She felt that her success came from embracing her political views, speaking openly about them, and aligning with like-minded people, that it opened the door for financial advancement.⁵⁶ She networked with people who were able to put her in touch with influential people within her career field.⁵⁷

Eight years after moving to Midland, Texas, Stephanie began sharing with others that politically she identifies as a Hispanic Conservative, an ideal that expands far past the scope of social mobility.⁵⁸ She started to feel comfortable speaking about political topics that put her in the position to have the unpopular opinion as a Hispanic conservative. She gained a sense of confidence that her political views were justified because those around her (mostly white conservatives) were supporting her ideals and beliefs. In a place such as Fort Stockton, Stephanie would often get into political debates because many people felt her views were not supportive of her culture, especially in her thoughts on immigration.⁵⁹

After feeling outcast by some of the people she knew, she began sharing her political beliefs with her family. She has been able to influence some of her family members and impact their political identity along the way, especially her mother.⁶⁰ During one of these conversations, her mother stated "you know what? I think my views are more aligned with conservatives."⁶¹ Stephanie believes without sharing the knowledge or experiences she had, her mother "may not have ever tapped into that different view of thinking because she's in El Paso, and that's all she's ever known."⁶² Unlike the small town of Fort Stockton, El Paso is known for having a more liberal population. The population is about 74 times larger than that of Fort Stockton, so there is a broader range of views.⁶³

"We truly are 'the silent.""

After marrying her husband, Stephanie moved back to El Paso, a city where she was at a crossroads because of the city's prominent policy makers.⁶⁴ She liked the political atmosphere in Midland, however, she wanted to be closer to family. El Paso is known for having various cultural festivals throughout the year and celebrations of Mexican heritage. The influence of the Mexican culture is undoubtedly in the atmosphere - which is something that she doesn't fully embrace. This is why the label Hispanic conservative carries heavy weight, especially since former President Trump made comments about Mexicans. Stephanie has seen others making comments on social media such as "how can you vote for a guy that would deport your family?"⁶⁵ She sees that being associated with the Republican Party that has developed a tag of "racist" outside of her circle.⁶⁶ Stephanie revealed: "I don't feel like I can be out there and in your face, like, 'hey, this is what I support,'" despite her strong belief that these ideals have transformed her way of life for the better.⁶⁷

Stephanie is a firm believer in America first, during our conversation she mentioned that in general, the state should be more concerned about helping "our own" first.⁶⁸ She also believes that immigration opportunities should be limited as there are "veterans and even homeless people in the United States who need the help" more so than Mexican immigrants.⁶⁹ As a result of this, she believes human trafficking has increased since people are going "around the government instead of through it."⁷⁰ Like Ana Maria, Stephanie has disassociated her family from the "bad immigrant" type because her family came to the United States legally and continues to abide by the laws of the land. Stephanie doesn't believe that immigration is bad, she simply believes that everyone should have to go through due process, just as her family did.⁷¹

Stephanie has become very strategic about what, when, and where she expresses her political opinions because "God forbid it pisses someone off at work."⁷² She shared a story with me of her children participating in a mock election at school:

"[The kids] were super excited to vote because, you know, they hear what we talk about, and they may not know any better... but they heard that we support Trump. So, they were excited to vote for Trump, and um yeah... they got bullied. I mean, they got picked on! And [the kids] were like, 'that's so bad!' and a couple of the teachers made comments. As much as I wanted to go and fight that fight. I said, "you know what, it's not worth it."⁷³

Stephanie has since then been very particular about her social media presence. Anything she publicly shares on social media; she's made sure not to post her political affiliation.⁷⁴ Because she now lives in El Paso, which is moderately liberal, the last thing she would want is for her political affiliations to affect her livelihood and her children.⁷⁵ Over time she has learned to keep a circle of safe space for political expression with friends who support her ideals. In regions beyond the south, some may consider Stephanie an anomaly as a Hispanic conservative. Stephanie however, knows she is not alone, she believes that Hispanic conservatives in West Texas "truly are 'the silent;" even if they are not always the majority in El Paso.⁷⁶ She has found community and her experiences are hardly unique in West Texas.

For Stephanie to believe she's made it she must preserve her ideals.⁷⁷ While she's proud of her political identity, she is fearful now of the power of backlash on social media.⁷⁸ El Paso in the 2010s became more politically diverse and she now feels that her political views are not aligned with the majority.⁷⁹ While she has applied what she learned from her mentors in banking and her intention is to provide a life she was not able to have for her children, without exposing her beliefs to critique, she loses the opportunity to close holes in her philosophy. In the journey to "making it" it appears as though Stephanie has lost a connection to the very ideals that got her to where she is now: hard work and perseverance. But then the global pandemic changed everything and for these women it forced them to reassess an uncomplicated embrace of conservatism as the pathway to their American Dream

Impact of COVID-19

"We were raised to obey and follow the rules."

On March 13th, 2020, Governor Greg Abbott declared a statewide emergency after the mass spreading of COVID-19 in the state.⁸⁰ The pandemic affected Ana Maria in many ways. Her toughest battle was sustaining herself and her family financially.⁸¹ While some businesses in town received financial assistance in order to stay open, The Mystique did not.⁸² This was largely because her business was considered non-essential.⁸³ But for Hispanic business owners, small service outlets like beauty salons were essential to the survival of the community. During the heat of the pandemic, shortly after Governor Abbott's emergency declaration, The Mystique had to close. Ana Maria was extremely eager to return to work, however she wanted to ensure that she and her customers would be safe. Ana Maria stated that her background undoubtedly affected her response to shutting down. She explained, "we were raised to obey and follow the rules and not question authority. I always feel like when someone questions the rules or law it's

because they feel some sort of entitlement."⁸⁴ Other salon owners, especially white ones across the state of Texas wanted to remain open, to make money, and some even directly defied the public safety plan.⁸⁵

Ana Maria was afraid to open the salon because of the regulations the Texas Department of Licensing and Registration (TDLR) set forth during the COVID-19 lockdown.⁸⁶ Salon owners "were threatened to be fined and have [their] license revoked."⁸⁷ That alone for Ana Maria was enough to keep the salon shutdown. However, she confessed to me that she continued to work from home, secretly, "I scheduled appointments and made the money I needed for my family to keep us afloat."⁸⁸ The two-month closing actually opened up more time for Ana Maria to reflect on her personal opinions and brought an awareness to issues she was overlooking. About two months later, on May 18th, Governor Abbott officially allowed for salons to reopen.⁸⁹ After this, it was back to business as usual for Ana Maria and the rest of the people of West Texas. America, however, would not be returning to "normal" for quite some time.



I will tell you that "Black Lives Matter"

The death of George Floyd on May 25th shook even the small town of Fort Stockton. A few others and I gathered for a small, peaceful protest in honor of the #BlackLivesMatter movement at Zero Stone Park about a five-minute walk from The Mystique. Approximately 60 people attended what was arguably the first protest the small town had seen in Zero Stone Park. Ana Maria was not in attendance; however, this did not prevent the conversation of "Black Lives Matter" from entering the shop. After photos and videos from the protest were posted online, there were mixed opinions concerning the "desecration" of the American flag by the letters "BLM" with spray paint.

A few days later, a conversation sparked up in a small group at the shop concerning this topic. Ana Maria shared with me that she overheard a few Hispanic women in the shop discussing how much "disbelief" they were in about the "disrespectful" young man who desecrated the American Flag.⁹⁰ "So, this is the only time that I-- well probably not the only time. But one of the times, it really got under my skin," Ana Maria expressed.⁹¹ One of these women, Delilah, had a close family member who was part of the military and very "passionate" about the flag.⁹² Ana Maria outlined that she has never had anybody close to her in the military. She stated, "I don't disrespect it, but what the flag and the symbolism and means to [Delilah] doesn't mean the same to me."⁹³ This conversation was an explicit breach of her "mirror" politics, Ana Maria confronted Delilah, the woman criticizing the protest and stated to her:

"But I will tell you that Black Lives Matter because all my nieces and nephews are half...so that movement is closer to me because it's a part of me. It's a part of who they are...You probably don't have family members who are half or black, you may know someone but if you don't have a family member, then you're not going to feel like I feel about it. Just like I don't have anybody in the military. I'm not going to feel the respect like you feel over the flag."⁹⁴

The combination of the pandemic and a very personal connection to Black Lives Matter, disrupted Ana Maria's reliance on mirror politics, Ana Maria had to truly look at her reflection and determine her stance. For that moment, Ana Maria was empowered to use her voice in the workplace despite the risk of creating tension with a customer and the other cosmetologists in the shop.

Though she didn't assert her personal belief, she spoke back to the customer stating that they did not have enough experience with Black people to comment on the emotion behind the protest and gave an ultimatum to agree to disagree. It was in this moment that she decided that she was no longer going to mirror her clients as she had done in the past, even though she knew this might affect her financially, she felt that the connection with her family was more important. The pandemic gave many people the chance to reflect on the economy, politics, and the way of life they wanted to live. While it took time to adjust, most people came to enjoy life at home. They enjoyed the relaxation of working from home without the pressure of going to the office. Employers soon would also realize the economic benefit of people being home. However, what this also did was allow people to state political opinions which they might not say in the physical presence of others. It was during this time that we saw more hate speeches being done. People took a stance on whether they wanted the government telling them what to do such as wearing a mask, getting a vaccine, how and when they could travel, etc. For conservatives, they had to take a stand on voicing their opinions.

Stephanie reflected that she was grateful for the pandemic giving her increased family time that she otherwise would not have had when working heavily. ⁹⁵ Stephanie works for Charles Schwab, a major banking company.⁹⁶ She was able to receive extra financial assistance of a \$1,000 bonus to help offset any financial burden with COVID-19 and a \$250 stipend for technology.⁹⁷ The transition to a work from home posture was much easier for her company than others. She mentioned that several people around her were "fortunate and unfortunate."⁹⁸ Her parents, on the one hand, had to lay off many workers in their crew since there were no jobs coming in for them to work. Stephanie described that former brick masons are now on a temporary layoff "accumulating that unemployment" in a negative context.⁹⁹ Whereas herself and her coworkers, on the other hand have been able to maintain their job at a sustainable company and transition with the times.¹⁰⁰

Perhaps in line with her political views, initially Stephanie shared that she held strong reservations about wearing face masks. She was unsure of how effective the masks truly could be in protecting against an airborne virus.¹⁰¹ But she researched the effectiveness of masks early on and concluded from the research she did herself that she was going to "buy them and in every color."¹⁰² During the Fourth of July Stephanie's family bucked pandemic mandates and gathered together to celebrate the patriotic holiday. She described the situation like the family "threw in the towel," they are a large family and had been separate for a long time.¹⁰³ She said, "we wanted to see each other, so we took the chance."¹⁰⁴ Unfortunately, Stephanie learned that her mother was diagnosed with COVID-19 shortly after the gathering.¹⁰⁵ During the celebration, Stephanie was one of the few that were strict about wearing masks and social distancing. Her kids did not social distance with their grandmother but wore a mask the entire time. After Stephanie's mom tested positive for COVID-19, all the adults got tested and came back negative.¹⁰⁶ While most in her political community held strong beliefs that masking and quarantine was an infringement on their civil liberties and economic well-being, she believes that mask-wearing and social distancing actually protected her from getting the virus. As for her kids, she "[believes] in [her] heart that the masks protected them."¹⁰⁷ Despite her party affiliation, this personal interaction with COVID-19 has affected her opinion on the use of masks. In this case, her personal experiences trumped Stephanie's economically motivated political views.

She's just Alicia

During the pandemic and in the wake of George Floyd's death, Stephanie has also become more intentional about engaging with friends and family members who do not align with her political beliefs. Not only did she reach out to check on their well-being, but she also started talking more explicitly about race and even equity. Describing the racial makeup of El Paso, around 80% of the population is Hispanic, Stephanie said, "I guess the topic of racism has never really...been an issue, fortunately for me growing up."¹⁰⁸ The pandemic and ensuing racial reckoning after George Floyd opened up conversations that she "never thought [she] would have to have with [her] kids so early on."¹⁰⁹ She mentioned her daughter was on TikTok and was exposed to videos of George Floyd and protests, so she had to "think fast" to explain what racism and injustice is.¹¹⁰

After a separate conversation with a cousin-in-law, who is African American, she revealed to them that she has not taught her kids to "see color," to which the cousin's response was "well you should."¹¹¹ He shared with her that everyone is different and acknowledging those differences is okay, that she should explain to her children that just because we don't look alike, that doesn't mean that we can't share the same values.¹¹² She had "never thought about it that way," and began to tell me about her childhood friend who is mixed, like myself, being Black and Mexican (which is not identified as white in West Texas).¹¹³ "[When] I'm seeing [Alicia], I don't see... she's Black or she's Blaxican or whatever. She's just Alicia, you know, we grew up together. We've been best friends since we were three," Stephanie explained.¹¹⁴ The only time she ever felt threatened for her "race" was in August of 2019 when there was an active shooter in El Paso attacking Mexicans.¹¹⁵ Stephanie believes that the Mexican community responded differently to a "direct attack" on their community, "we reacted in a sense of morning and

sorrow," whereas the death of George Floyd led to protesting and riots.¹¹⁶ She understood that the situations were different but linked them together because they were on the same topic of race. Stephanie confessed it had been tough for her to understand but, she has tried to maintain an open mind.¹¹⁷

Although Stephanie herself is still learning how to understand the injustices taking place in the United States, one key shift in her mindset is the "silence factor."¹¹⁸ When she was growing up and she saw mistreatment, it was normal to remain silent. Now, however, she wants to teach her children to go into "those tough situations and, you know, put a stop to it. That's going to be the best thing that I can tell them, you know, is not be silent and not be an observer. But be that supporter."¹¹⁹

Ana Maria and Stephanie were not exempt from the ways COVID-19 exposed underlying vulnerabilities in West Texas and ultimately the United States. Not only did it impact them financially and physically, it impacted their mentalities. Ana Maria and Stephanie both took calculated risks. When conservatism failed to provide the economic and social security, they believed it would, their political views went against their norm. The season prompted conversations they never intended to have, and although overall their political views did not shift, there were notable changes from exposure to diverse thought and new vulnerabilities. While their journey to "making it," shaped their political thought, during the time when the nation was suffering, silence on social and political happenings was no longer their answer. These stories are not exclusive to West Texas or new to America, it is simply how two women from this region navigated the region to take control of their futures.

Chapter 2: Crude Realities: The Untold Story of Women in the West Texas Oil Industry

Throwing the Lifeline

It was 2:30 AM on a rainy spring night in west Texas. Maricela Fuentez woke up to an urgent phone call from one of her oil field drivers working the night shift for a sand delivery.¹²⁰ Calls after midnight never seemed to bring good news. Thoughts flooded her mind about what might have happened. As an operations manager for a startup oil company, Maricela always had to be ready, ready for the best and ready for the worst. That's why she made her duffel bag her lifeline.¹²¹ Early on as a worker in the field she learned to pack a bag with every item she could possibly need in the case of an emergency.¹²² After the call on the rainy night, she immediately threw on her work clothes, which included her coveralls and steel toe boots, and then grabbed her duffle bag that lives by her front door.¹²³ Hoping not to wake her husband and daughter, she tip-toed out of her bedroom and out the front door.

Leaving her family in moments like these betrayed the conservative values of the Hispanic household that she grew up in; the family always came first, especially for the women in the house. While it may have felt like a breach of her Hispanic womanhood, the reality is that Hispanic women in the United States have often worked in many settings outside of the home, including many who have worked alongside their husbands. Maricela transitioned to working in the oil industry because her husband's oil industry income was not enough to finance their daughter's education.¹²⁴ Economic instability in the United States today makes it impossible to even aspire to the desired status of a stay-at-home mom with a breadwinning husband.¹²⁵ It's all hands-on deck if you want to make it. While Maricela loved working in such a lucrative job, she worried if her work would adversely affect her family. Such self-doubt was just another symptom of being a woman working in a man's world. As she makes her way to her truck, she

reconciled her ideals with her reality. This work *was* serving her family. She took a look at the night sky and plugged in the rig's location to her GPS. The drive from her home to the oil rig was often dark and serene. But the pelting rain on this night changed that.¹²⁶ Workers tend to struggle with staying awake on the night shift, but with adrenaline flooding through her veins and anxious to get to her stranded oil field driver, Maricela hardly blinks as she's on the road.

Tumbleweeds, the rain, the stars, and her thoughts are the only things that keep her company on the lonely drive. Here she was, leaving her husband, who had just come back from a long shift in the oil fields, and leaving her daughter, who was just getting through her first semester as a freshman in high school.¹²⁷ What mattered more? Maricela's husband's and daughter's desire for her presence or the needs of a stranded oil field driver? She tried to convince herself that supporting her family just looked different in modern America. Taking on the role of what she considered being a professional caretaker became a way of survival. But it prevented her from being the traditional caretaker at home.

The decision to transition from working as a newspaper reporter into the oil industry was one she made with her husband to create a financially stable family in a changing economy.¹²⁸ They had decided that it would not be like this forever, only while her daughter was in high school. Then the path would be paved for her daughter to have a debt free education, or at least as close to it as possible, and Maricela would be able to go back to reporting. But she could not fast forward through the process, so here she was, sitting in the car, feeling the mom guilt for yet another time. Perhaps caring for this oilfield worker would be a viable way to relieve her of the guilt she was feeling. In her rearview mirror she sees the lights of the town fade to black. The closer she gets to the rig's location, the further away she is from civilization.

It is no secret that the oil industry is a dangerous place to work. In the terrain of West Texas, workers have to watch out for rattle snakes, tarantulas, mountain lions, etc.¹²⁹ Once workers arrive on the oil rig site, the potential hazards only increase. In addition to being extremely cautious of their environment, they must also become aware of their exposure to poisonous gasses like H2S which kills people within 60 seconds of inhalation while also operating heavy and dangerous machinery.¹³⁰ 90 miles away from her home, Maricela remembers the warning that her stranded driver gave, "when you get closer to the rig location, there's a dirt road. Stay close to the outer rim of the road, otherwise you'll get stuck in a massive ditch."¹³¹ Maricela makes a turn from the main Interstate 10 highway ¹³² Now, she is only a few minutes away from the location her driver sent.

Finally, the GPS pinged when she arrived. Scanning the road right and then left - she found her driver, just as he warned, stuck in a massive ditch. The guilt of leaving her family behind decreases as she sees that the driver is bleeding badly. Maricela learned that as he was driving in the rain he could not see the ditch he was approaching and had mistaken it for a pothole.¹³³ When his front tires hit the bottom of the ditch, the impact was so great that he bounced up and the top of his head smashed into the rigid plastic of his hard hat.¹³⁴ The driver's skull burst open and the bleeding started.¹³⁵ Maricela was the first on the scene, assessed the situation, and went into crisis prevention. She then pulled out her personal lifeline, the duffel bag and helped to get him out of the rain and to safety.¹³⁶ She felt a sense of accomplishment by doing something that most people would not think a woman could do. Risk averted, another emergency night call handled by a woman doing a man's job – all while the day-shift managers and her family were at home asleep.

As a bold Hispanic woman, Maricela grew into being a dependable hand on the rig by answering the hard calls like saving her driver at 3:00 a.m. There are not many women in the oil industry, and if they are employed, they are secretaries or trainers.¹³⁷ However, being a woman working a job that requires you to visit oilrigs in an actual oilfield is very rare.¹³⁸ Like other women working in male dominated sectors across the United States in the 21st century, she understood as a woman, many would not take her seriously, thus her leadership capacity tended to be limited. Working in West Texas also meant that she would be competing with conservative ideals surrounding gender roles and familial constructs. While her husband may still hold the breadwinner title in her household, Maricela must also work alongside him in the manly oilfields in order for her family to maintain stability.

Over the course of time, women found different ways to be present in the world of work while not posing a threat to the social ideals about gender roles. Maricela adopted the persona of "caretaker" to allow her to hold a non-threatening presence in the dangerous oilfields. In many ways, this persona benefits women because they are able to conform to traditional gender norms. However, it can also limit women's opportunities for career advancement and perpetuate gender stereotypes in the workplace. Unfortunately, for women like Maricela, this persona at work also compromises their desire for the position of caretaker at home. In this chapter, I will unveil the struggles women working in the oil industry face by looking at the underlying vulnerabilities of gender inequality, work-life balance, and job intensity in the age of late capitalism.

The reality of the economy in West Texas does not align with the patriarchal values that dominate both the home and the workplace. The oil industry can be volatile, with fluctuations in oil prices and job availability; this can lead to job insecurity for workers. To mitigate these risks, some families, like Maricela's, choose to have two incomes from the oil industry to provide a more stable financial foundation. As patriarchal values dominate the oil industry culture, women who work in the industry face many challenges that are not present for their male counterparts. Through sharing the story of Maricela Fuentez, "Tending the Field" explores how women working in the West Texas oil industry are consistently navigating a tricky crossroads of work, gender, and traditional values. It is a place where the promises of capitalism come crashing up against the realities of life in modern America. Before unpacking the impacts the industry has on women like Maricela, it is important to understand what the oil industry is and how its culture is unique for women working in this particular male dominated industry.

Big Oil in West Texas

West Texas is known as the oil capital of the United States.¹³⁹ Not surprisingly, oil here has played a significant role in the economy for decades. That role, however, has been shaped by the region's unique geography and sparse population.¹⁴⁰ With a low population density, those involved in the oil business have had to find innovative ways to exploit natural resources while minimizing the need for extensive labor.¹⁴¹ In West Texas, the structure of the oil industry has traditionally been dominated by large, vertically integrated companies that control every aspect of the supply chain, from exploration and production to refining and marketing.¹⁴² These companies have invested heavily in infrastructure, such as pipelines, storage tanks, and refineries, to transport and process the oil efficiently.¹⁴³ The region's vast, sparsely populated lands have also made it an attractive location for smaller, independent oil companies. These companies typically focus on niche areas, such as drilling shallow wells or targeting specific reservoirs, that are not economically viable for larger companies.¹⁴⁴ They may also specialize in a particular type of oil or gas, such as natural gas liquids, which have a high value but require specialized equipment to extract and process.

In order to properly utilize the specialized equipment, these oil companies divide their employees based on the type of labor being done in the industry.¹⁴⁵ Men in the field can work in various positions out on a location. There are delivery drivers, pumpers, and drillers working on the oil rig derrick.¹⁴⁶ In the portable offices out on the rig's location, Measurement While Drilling (MWDs) operate behind a screen as the engineering minds alongside operation managers and general overseers.¹⁴⁷ Then, maintenance workers fix equipment that may not operate properly to ensure the site is fully functioning 24/7.¹⁴⁸ Although the site operates 24/7, as an employee, productivity is inconsistent; there's a constant precarity of work. There are not seasonal or yearly calendars that employees follow to help determine when they will be sent out to work at a drilling site.¹⁴⁹ The rhythm of their work depends rather heavily on the dance between government regulations and consumer demand.¹⁵⁰

For employees inconsistent productivity manifests itself in a variety of ways. With MWDs, Operations Managers, and sometimes even maintenance workers, there are moments of intensive work and then hours of non-work.¹⁵¹ My father worked in the oil industry for many years as an MWD. For him, intensive work as an MWD meant that while out on location he would have moments where he was multi-tasking: on his computer observing how fast per hour the drill was going into the earth and training the person who would take over on the night shift. In moments of non-work, he might recognize that the drillers ran into complications and his reports would not be needed until drillers hit an obstruction or oil, this process could take longer than 4 hours.¹⁵² During times like that he would work on other things, watch a television show, or call his family - if he had cell service. He would rarely explore other parts of the drilling site due to the environment. Oil sites in West Texas are vastly different than what people may see in movies like *Deep Water Horizon*.¹⁵³ The terrain in West Texas can be brutal, especially in the

summertime and during the mid-day. Employees not only have to navigate wearing heavy protective layers in the West Texas heat, but they also must be aware of the wildlife in an oilfield.

An oilfield is the area of land that yields the petroleum the oil industry uses.¹⁵⁴ While driving on the highway they are easy to identify by seeing the drilling rig (which look like mini Eiffel towers), pump jacks, and red-orange flames used to burn hazardous gasses. In West Texas, the environment surrounding the oilfield is a natural wasteland. Many of the oil rigs in the field are located between 30 to 50 miles away from a town.¹⁵⁵ As a West Texas resident, I saw the power of the oil industry pervade my home life. There were times when my dad when working as an MWD Operator, living out on an oil field for 30 days, coming home for four, and then getting called back to work.¹⁵⁶ I was not the only person in my friend group who had a father working in the field. It seemed as if perhaps a small segment of my friend group's parents worked in education, the food industry, or in banking, but most spent some time working in the oil industry.



Figure 1. A Colgate Energy LLC oil drilling rig stands in Reeves County, n.d. (Photograph by Callaghan O'Hare in Texas growth offsets rig count dip elsewhere By Jordan Blum.) https://www.chron.com/business/energy/article/Texas-growth-offsets-rig-count-dip-elsewhere-13247918.php

When West Texans imagine an oilfield, they do not think of an open plain with pools of oil throughout, because that is not what an oilfield looks like. Instead, oftentimes, an image of an oil rig or pump jack appears in their mind. An oil rig, which is sometimes called a drilling rig, is the platform used to drill underground for oil.¹⁵⁷ The rig is a structural metal tower that holds drilling pipes in place.¹⁵⁸ It also is the machine used to create holes in the earth through intense drilling. In West Texas, an oil rig's crown typically rises between 150-200 feet.¹⁵⁹ The staircase and platform are entirely made of metal for durability.¹⁶⁰ The oil rig itself is an extremely intricate object, it is composed of many parts, each needing its own special attention. This image is significant to keep in mind because this is where the majority of work-related injuries and deaths take place.

The work is toilsome and dangerous which explains why it is a male dominated field. Even after the significant advancement of machinery in the 21st century the oil industry still needs significant manpower to operate pumps, drills, and other machinery for discovering and extracting oil.¹⁶¹ The men that are primarily operating the intensive labor aspects of the industry are also those that make up the "man camps" on oil rig sites.¹⁶² Man camps are temporary housing facilities located near oil rigs and drilling sites that provide accommodations for employees. This is typically those that reside too far away to commute back and forth between where they live and the drilling site.¹⁶³ The impact of man camps on the culture of the oil industry has been significant because they create a culture of isolation and exclusion, particularly for women and other marginalized groups who may not feel comfortable in these predominantly male environments.

Culture of the Oil Industry

There is a sense of loneliness and isolation working in the field. Workers that make their way out to work on oil rigs are several miles outside of a town.¹⁶⁴ When thinking about workers in West Texas, specifically the Permian Basin, population density is already extremely low.¹⁶⁵ Even when you travel into the closest town, the largest town a worker could travel to in the Permian Basin would be Midland or Odessa, Texas, where the population combined is about 343,000 people.¹⁶⁶ So even if a worker wanted to travel into town to interact with people, often times it is not going to be a massive city that they're able to engage with civilians. Midland and Odessa do not have oil rigs near the city, which means that often times oilfield workers in the Permian Basin are actually traveling 50 to 100 miles to get to work.¹⁶⁷

Most of the time oil workers will not have cell service or internet connection, so they must use things like internet projectors and cell boosters to get a connection to do the job that they are tasked with.¹⁶⁸ For the average oil rig to operate it needs almost 100 crew members.¹⁶⁹ They divide the shifts into two crews.¹⁷⁰ They have a dayshift crew and a night shift crew.¹⁷¹ While the dayshift crew has the opportunity to go back home or to go into town in the evenings, the night shift crew does not have that luxury because most the time during the daytime, they are resting.¹⁷² This is another reason why many women are not dominant in this field, the hours are long, and the shifts do not correlate to having a successful family life.¹⁷³ Adding yet an additional layer of this being a male-dominated industry, as a woman you will be extremely isolated working out on the field.

Loneliness is not simply being away from civilization, for oil industry workers, this is also being isolated from other worldviews. Oilfield workers are not completely alone in the field, as stated, there are about 50 people on a location per shift.¹⁷⁴ However, being a woman in this

male-dominated arena, you might feel alienated even more.¹⁷⁵ The West Texas political landscape is predominantly conservative. If an oilfield worker transitions into this region with a liberal mindset or wants to make an impact in the oil industry through endorsing countercultual norms like being safe with the environment and going green, they may not be liked by their peers.¹⁷⁶ That is because they would ultimately be advocating for something that may threaten their livelihood.

Big oil has its own unique industry code of conduct and ethics.. This is likely due to the significant economic and political power that the industry holds, as well as the complex and potentially hazardous nature of oil extraction and production. The influence of the oil industry on everyday life in West Texas has been significant because of the region's close ties to the industry. The oil industry has had a profound impact on the region's economy, environment, and culture, and has arguably shaped the morals and values of those who work in it. For example, while the rest of the country is upset about rising gas prices, West Texans see the rising prices as a sign of job stability.¹⁷⁷

My father explained that often times he would run into people who not only had a conservative ideal, but many of them did not understand cultural sensitivity and were culturally incompetent.¹⁷⁸ He had several interactions with people who were racist, and other instances of racism that happened while he was out on the night shift.¹⁷⁹ Such instances can be handled by HR, but it isn't an easy task. Finding a time to talk to the appropriate chain of command might take several weeks due to scheduling.¹⁸⁰ And by the time a charge is reviewed, it is highly likely that the rig's job is almost done.¹⁸¹ In the end, there are often no reprimands and no consequences for the people who make racist remarks in the oil field.¹⁸² The same holds true for any situations of sexual harassment on the job site.¹⁸³

The Nature of Women in the Oil Industry

The oil industry, however, is not solely an industry, it is also a culture. The job itself is hard labor that involves lifting and carrying heavy objects and the conditions are outside in the Texas heat which usually ranges between 90-105 degrees.¹⁸⁴ The shifts are typically twelve to fourteen hours and often times require staying on locations in the middle of nowhere.¹⁸⁵ This is why oil has been traditionally deemed "man's work."¹⁸⁶ West Texan women in the early 1900s took care of the home and children while men went out to do the work.¹⁸⁷ This gendered division of labor did not change until the 1970s, when women were employed to work on rigs and platforms.¹⁸⁸ Here was the beginning of a new era in which women began to play a more significant role in the oil industry and challenge traditional gender roles.

Even to this day, women who work in the oil field are likely in administrative roles in the office space.¹⁸⁹ Some of the gendered segregation of labor goes back to the dangers of working in the field and the sexist presumption that women are incapable of enduring through danger. Oil field work is an extremely labor-intensive job, and if a person cannot handle the extreme heat in West Texas, handle heavy machinery, or handle being out on location at an oil site, then they are indeed unable to do the work. Of course, there was often nothing preventing women from transitioning into these jobs beyond plain sexism. Even though women have proven their mettle in the field and have conquered oil field jargon, the work remains a male domain. And even the women in office work in the industry are frequently employed off site.¹⁹⁰

Women in the Industry

Gender Inequality

For an operations manager like Maricela, hours of non-work look very different than the men in the industry.¹⁹¹ Non-work translates to all of her caretaking responsibilities being fulfilled and her oil field operations running smoothly. This means that she would not have to correct anybody in her staff because operations are already on site. For maintenance workers, downtime might look like arriving to a location to perform maintenance on a set of equipment, not knowing how long it will take, just to find that the piece of equipment only needed a tune up to work. Hours of intense non-stop work are just that: intense. I remember my dad speaking of days where under a specific contract, there were so many obstructions the drillers ran into.¹⁹² Rather than having three to four hours of downtime, he could not even get 30 minutes for himself.¹⁹³ He ended up having to stay awake for three days straight because of the amount of work needed through the drilling and directing.¹⁹⁴ Maricela wore many hats for the company, her position changed nearly 20 times.¹⁹⁵ She started off as a sales operator where essentially her job was to check on all the drivers to ensure they received all necessary products that the inventory was properly accounting for all they maintained.¹⁹⁶ She also had to do drivers' logs and make sure that drivers complied and ensure that all the units had the right certifications.¹⁹⁷ Sand companies are essential in the fracking industry because whenever drilling takes place at different levels, a specific type of sand is needed at each level in the process.¹⁹⁸ She explained to me that she "was pretty much doing the whole job until [she] hired someone else to do THE job."¹⁹⁹ Which meant essentially, she had to do everyone's job until she could hire somebody to do the job for her.²⁰⁰ The company was still seeking to hire an operations manager, which was essentially what Maricela was doing from the start.²⁰¹ Maricela was okay with not being paid to do the work of an

operations manager because she was still content and satisfied with the pay that she was receiving.²⁰² She said, "with my work ethic, it is not about my title, I am just a team player, and I will do whatever it takes."²⁰³

Eventually the company did hire an operations manager, but he lived out of town and because of Maricela's devotion to the company she was just more accessible.²⁰⁴ So even if they had a man filling the position, she tended to pick up all the slack.²⁰⁵ Eventually operations managers would be laid off due to their lack of availability or end up shifting positions to work closer to where they live. There always seemed to be a reason for why things were not working out with the operations managers the company hired, yet they still did not take Maricela into serious consideration for the position.²⁰⁶ Maricela expressed to me with some discontent, "I was always the default. They always relied on me to train them."²⁰⁷ She said that she would consider herself a "good" right hand man, but unfortunately, she's a woman.²⁰⁸ At times she would think and question why they would not just hire her, but so long as she was getting paid a decent amount, she didn't mind it until the company started going through multiple operations managers.²⁰⁹ They had gone through six operations managers before they considered her, and she received the official title of operations manager.²¹⁰ When I asked how much more the male operations managers were making than she was while she was essentially doing their job, she didn't know. She answered that she "didn't care to know because she was happy with her work and her pay.²¹¹ Because in the grand scheme of things she was making "three times more then she had ever made [as a reporter]."²¹²

After some time, the company had grown significantly. It needed to divvy up branches and split the sand and fuel portions of the company.²¹³ Sand and trucking went in one direction and the fuel portion of the company went in another direction; Maricela went with the fuel

because she was given the opportunity to lead operations.²¹⁴ She emphasized that when this happened it was not because they chose her, it was truly because of default, nobody else was lasting in the position.²¹⁵ Very few people could handle the demand of the job; the company was running 24/7 operations, 365 days of the year.²¹⁶ She had reached the six-figure range so she believed it was paying for what she was doing. Maricela did not deny that there is a difference in how male employers in the field treat woman. She explained "I don't think they want to pay for what they get, they want to go the cheapest route. They want to roll the dice with somebody who doesn't have the maturity level or the experience."²¹⁷ This is able to happen often because the women working in West Texas do not have many offers to expand their income. They are mostly in education, restaurants, and entrepreneurship. The oilfield offers them an opportunity to make money they likely would not have made otherwise.²¹⁸

Oil rigs function like New York City: they never sleep. The reason many workers are expanding their income drastically by working in the field is because the work is nonstop.²¹⁹ So even if women are hired at a lower rate they stand to get time and a half after 40 hours a week.²²⁰ Many people can work 40 hours in just three days on a rig's location.²²¹ The tradeoff for women is that oftentimes they are placed in a position to be around men who "do not respect women" - and not just for hours, but days on end in an isolated space with limited protection.²²² Maricela explained "when you are around that you just kind of get desensitized, you know... I have. I have lots of layers so it was easy for me."²²³ She did not hide the fact that her mental health had been affected by her work. I heard her take a deep breath, then she admitted "the oil field abuses your mental, physical and emotional state."²²⁴ And although she is not considered "one of the guys" she's considered as someone with "very thick skin."²²⁵

Having thick skin was needed in the sand industry, especially as a woman working

closely with truckers and operators after a business deal is made.²²⁶ Truckers are sent to a specific location to pick up the items needed to fulfill an order made by a company. Maricela was the person who would communicate with truckers after an order and direct them on what needed to happen for a smooth operation ultimately ending with the trucker receiving the sand.²²⁷ Truckers would line up and wait for directions on where to move as they wait to complete their order for pick up.²²⁸ At times the truckers would get impatient, perhaps Maricela's operations were running behind schedule because of multiple pickups, perhaps the trucker was strained from driving hours without a break, whatever the case might have been, she learned to stand firm and keep her ground.²²⁹ Maricela described that truckers would call her a bitch or say she was power hungry or ignore her altogether and ask for the "real" boss.²³⁰ It was obvious that they did not have respect for her as a woman who was running the operations behind the scenes. Maricela would tell truckers after their complaints: "you can say whatever you need to, we are still not going to give you your sand, until it is your turn."²³¹

As an operations manager Maricela saw many instances of good conduct in the field, but she also had seen and heard of misconduct in the field. One of the ways she directly took matters into her own hands was by intentionally scheduling women who were scale operators to work during day shifts and her male scale operators to work during the night shift.²³² It had come to her attention that some of the women scale operators felt uneasy with working overnight. This was mainly due to leadership often not being on site unless of an emergency and drivers behaving inappropriately or saying something that was unsettling for her women operators.²³³ Maricela always made sure to let the woman know that she was only a call away because safety was first and foremost.²³⁴ For her safety was not simply protocols being followed with

equipment, it was ensuring that are women were working out safe and comfortable conditions so they could do the job they were paid to do.²³⁵

Another way that she looked out for other women in the field was by being honest about attire. She wanted to protect them as much as she could since gender roles were extremely traditional in the field. Out on the rigs, men thought that women should not be out there in that role, they were supposed to be home watching the kids and making dinner. She would tell her female employees that they were indeed in a man's world. "If you do not want to be... attacked or spoken to any certain way, then don't behave like that we always make sure that our order polo shirts, you know no cleavage. If you don't want to be spoken to don't speak to them in a certain way, do your job," she would warn them.²³⁶ By her taking on the personal of caretaker became a way of survival and gave her credibility in the field but prevented her from being the caretaker at home. Her ability to be caretaker at the rig was her way of negotiating gender tension, she took on being the mother on the rig because she couldn't be the mother at home. Caretaking became a sense of survival and pride on the rig, but a sense of failure at home. In talking to me she spoke with a sense of angst of leaving her family home in order to provide for her family.

Work life balance

Maricela Fuentez did not begin her work-life in the oil field; this was something that she stepped into later when she realized that she was not going to be able to afford to pay for her daughters' education. All of her work experience prior to working in the oil field was self-taught, when she started out, she was an administrative assistant in the field simply helping to manage a start-up sand company. She was confident in her ability to help because she had a lot of background in computer programs and office management in other previous roles.²³⁷ She did not

go to college and does not have a degree, so she understood that she had to work hard in order to maintain her job and to move up the corporate ladder.²³⁸ Outside of being a reporter, Maricela also had work experience in the law enforcement field but working for the government "doesn't pay."²³⁹ Much of the benefit she received would be long-term, and her daughter's graduation from high school was approaching closer and closer. Rather than waiting for an opportunity to fall into her lap, she began to take matters into her own hands and speak with some of her family and friends who had experienced working in the oil field.²⁴⁰

Maricela had many things that she wanted to enjoy in life, and the oil field helped her "get there faster."²⁴¹ The drawback that she understood going in was that there was a sacrifice of working longer hours and being away from home. This is why whenever she started her searches, she was looking for things in the administrative field.²⁴² Administration matched her work experience and there was some promise that she would not have to be away from home for so long. Maricela's husband was also working in the oil field at the time, so she understood the type of money that she could potentially make working in the field.²⁴³ She wanted to contribute. Her crossroads was making the decision of staying in her administrative position working "paycheck to paycheck" or to take a risk and gamble on how much money her family could make by making it in the field.²⁴⁴ However, she also realized the very reason that she was looking for a job in this field, (her family) could be the very thing that she could lose by working long hours and being away from home. This was something that she would have to get used to if she wanted to get ahead faster.

Maricela put in her two weeks' notice to her job place without another position lined up in faith that an opportunity would show itself.²⁴⁵ For five days she was unemployed, reaching out to family and friends asking for them to keep an eye and an ear out for opportunities.²⁴⁶ On her

fifth day of unemployment, she got a phone call from a friend who heard about a couple of businessmen that were staying at a hotel in Fort Stockton, Texas from the northern part of the state.²⁴⁷ The businessman was from a company in North Texas owned by an affluent family who owned a trucking company, sand company, and a fuel company.²⁴⁸ These two individuals were the director of procurement and their sand sales manager.²⁴⁹ The company decided to build and grow their business in West Texas, and in Fort Stockton specifically because interstate 10 served as a central traffic artery for their business.²⁵⁰

At the time, they just so happened to be looking for someone to help run their start up sand company and had asked her friend who worked at the front desk for referrals.²⁵¹ Maricela said she had just told her friend earlier that day that she was looking for an opportunity.²⁵² This was a friend who only knew her work ethic from working with Maricela in the Lions Club of the town.²⁵³ The friend completely endorsed her in the business and the men were sold so they called Maricela to schedule an interview that day.²⁵⁴ She rushed over to the hotel and prepared for the interview, they were so impressed by her that they hired her that day and she became the first employee for this startup company.²⁵⁵ Maricela had the opportunity to help this business get built from the ground up. This was just the opportunity that she was looking for. Here was something where a woman could serve in a position of power alongside her male counterparts, both making good money, even though huge gender disparities in pay and work expectations remained. In fact, Maricela did not know of any other woman in a position like this.²⁵⁶ Everyone else she met in a leadership position was male.²⁵⁷

Maricela dove headfirst into the opportunity. She did not take the position lightly and after she was hired she immediately began hiring drivers and other parts of her staff.²⁵⁸ She ordered furniture for the empty trailer that her supervisors were working from, desks, dry erase

boards, meeting equipment, you name it, Maricela had her hands in to make sure that things were completed in a timely fashion.²⁵⁹ She stayed with the company for eight years and her position changed approximately 20 times.²⁶⁰ Maricela grew extremely devoted to the company, she was a team player, and was willing to do whatever it took to keep the company afloat. Her job became 24/7 because she was filling in as the operations manager that her company didn't have the ability to hire upfront.²⁶¹ The job became her life because it was an operation that ran 24/7 year-round. In fact, she became the "go-to man" for six years. She was also excited by her six-figure salary. Everything was paying off, and Maricela also believed she would eventually get recognition for the work she was doing.²⁶²

At the time she started, her daughter was around 14 years old and in the 9th grade, a firstyear student in high school. Maricela's job was located on an oil rig just outside of Fort Stockton, so she was not too far from reach. But still, it was a very demanding job.²⁶³ She was working quite literally 24/7. If someone was absent, Maricela was called to fill the gap. Her supervisors leveraged her proximity to the site for things like meeting truckers for late night drop offs to checking inventory and managing last minute issues at the terminals.²⁶⁴ The expectation was that because she was closer to the rig's location, she would not have a rough time dropping everything and tending to the issues at hand.²⁶⁵ In fact, she was closer to the problems that popped up more than many of her coworkers. She admitted she was not around for much at home. Although "you're making 3 times as much money but you're aging 3x as fast," she explained. Maricela missed a lot of her daughters first high school games and activities and any event she did make, Maricela was rushing from the oil rig into town to catch a glimpse of something…anything.²⁶⁶ Maricela didn't mind this because as a woman, she was already used to multitasking, already used to doing two things at once. She didn't mind working 12–14-hour days and rushing home from the field in order to see her daughter participating in school events.²⁶⁷ Maricela shared that to be a successful woman working in the field, one must value and have excellent communication skills with their significant other and family, otherwise the job will interfere with a marriage and a family.²⁶⁸

The job grew into being more demanding and the 12–14-hour days became 16–18-hour days.²⁶⁹ If Maricela wasn't asleep, she was at work, the job became her life, and she was unable to balance it all and multitask in the way she used to. Maricela talked about how she felt she was watching her family's life through a lens.²⁷⁰ She was not there physically, but she felt she was kept in the loop through pictures or videos. This was not how she wanted her only daughter's last years of being in her household, but she kept saying that this would be a way to set her daughter up for life.²⁷¹ Her husband became the one who was there for her daughter at a lot of her school events.²⁷² He did not have such a rigorous work schedule and he got more phone calls from her daughter because he was more readily available.²⁷³ In the middle of our conversation, she paused and stated: "I can honestly contribute my divorce to my oilfield job."²⁷⁴

It is hard to maintain communication when you are in the middle of the desert at a rig with no cell service. She stated it takes extremely strong values and excellent communication between spouses to not allow for the job to interfere with a marriage.²⁷⁵ In Maricela's situation both her and her husband were working in the field so the strain on her marriage intensified even more than a couple that only has one spouse working in the field.²⁷⁶ She prioritized work because her mindset was that in prioritizing work and being away, she was creating a way to support the family by creating greater financial stability and allow for their daughter to graduate with as little debt as possible.²⁷⁷

It wasn't until later that Maricela had the revelation that though she was making more money, time was passing by for her so fast. She went from rushing to make a game to missing her daughters' games because she was out in the field. She would have to work overtime in her personal life in order to maintain relationships. The luxury of making oil field money comes at the sacrifice of your personal well-being. She enjoyed the freedom from financial stress. But the truth is, it took her away from the very things she was trying to preserve – her home. As someone who grew up in a Mexican household, Maricela was used to never having a man in the home. The oil industry is filled with present but absent fathers, but when she became a present but absent mother – it put a large strain on her family. It was countercultural for the woman to be absent. And as Maricela said, unless you are fortunate enough to have an oilfield job within the community you're living in, the job will, in fact, take you away from your family.

Eight years later Maricela would not change anything because it allowed her to provide for her daughter who graduated from college with a degree that Maricela never had the opportunity to pursue. She admittedly said she's also an "adrenaline seeker," which made her desire to go back to the job daily despite how much it was tearing her family apart.²⁷⁸ "The fact that I could do every aspect of that job, the fact that I was in charge, the fact that I was working in an industry where it wasn't normal [for me, as a woman to work], I wanted to be *that* person."²⁷⁹ The fact that she could not be the housewife speaks to the gravity of the new conditions in the new economy. She HAD to work to mobilize her family. If not, her daughter would be in debt through the roof trying to get an education and break out of the blue-collar mold.

Job Intensity

It pays to be in the oil field. Maricela shared that whenever she began working in the field, she started making three times more than what she had ever made. During Covid-19 the work in the industry slowed down drastically and there were a lot of layoffs. Maricela went back to working for the government in the town of Fort Stockton.²⁸⁰ And went back to making 1/3 of what she was in the oil field. It was the safer track; she had been in the field for nearly 10 years and the necessity for her to be working in the field was no longer there. She was back to leaving work at work and being home on the weekends. But with no family really to turn to because she had gotten a divorce and her daughter graduated from college and moved to another city. She misses the field and longs for a time when the income of the industry will be steady enough again for her to work in the field.²⁸¹

Around the time of our interview she had actually got a call back from the company saying that they had an opportunity open for an office manager at one of their facilities, and of course, Maricela's name was brought up as being someone who was reliable and could get the job done.²⁸² They needed assistance with staffing and getting their personal files in order, as well as doing payroll and scheduling.²⁸³ This is something that she could do in her sleep, so she was not surprised that they had called her.²⁸⁴ She was the first person that the people who hired her preferred to be an operations manager for the position. She did do an interview and had not heard back from the company, but she longs to be back in the field.²⁸⁵ Her decision of whether or not to go back into the industry is truly based on if the company will pay her well.²⁸⁶ At the place she is at now, it is less strenuous, and the labor isn't intensive. The job she interviewed for would not be as intense as what she was doing before the pandemic, but it would take her out of town again. She did have a salary requirement so it may deter the company from hiring her now that she now

knows what she's worth. As our conversation closed, she sighed and looked to the side, and shared "I don't think they are willing to pay me what I think I'm worth."²⁸⁷

Maricela's story speaks to the American dream because it's one of success and overcoming obstacles that people would never dream would be possible for them. Women in male dominating industries often have to take on supplementary roles in order to be viewed as valuable or a necessary on the job. Her story also represents the struggles of the family navigating through the new economy in the United States. To survive economically in West Texas, a family must be connected to oil in some way. As a woman, Maricela working in the oil industry and working out in the field is nontraditional. She is fortunately one of the few woman in these various capacities. For successful woman in a male-dominated industry, the crude reality is that there must be a compromise between choosing to tend to the home or be valued and given equal opportunities in the workplace. Maricela chose to be a caretaker in the field.²⁸⁸ She also liked multi-tasking and getting things done without being asked because she felt that she could see the needs of the company even without being asked.

Maricela chose to replace her biological family with her work and this was not an easy decision. While she did gain monetarily, she lost time and relationships that are not easy to get back. This is not just a symptom in West Texas, it is taking place all over the United States. When given the opportunity to pursue a passion beyond a traditional female role, the challenge is conflicting not because of skill sets but because of the fight against traditional values. Many women must choose which one is more important to them, their career or their family and follow that path. Therefore, we often see career women with no children, or women who choose family, might not be in leadership roles. This is also one of the reasons that there are not many women in

the oil field. The long hours and strenuous work do not make it easy to have a work-family life balance.

Chapter 3: Degrees of Opportunity: The Ambivalent Approach to Education and Social Mobility in West Texas

Navigating Education and Industry in Rural West Texas

The Monday after the Fourth of July in 2015 David Whaley relocated from Fort Stockton, Texas, with his entire family to arguably become the first Black family to reside in Imperial, Texas.²⁸⁹ 18 years prior, as a prospective college athlete, Whaley decided to put his dream on hold and leave his basketball scholarship to the University of Texas at San Antonio, along with the city to marry his soon-to-be wife, Norma Fabela.²⁹⁰ This time around, the decision to leave his home was an opportunity to put education and basketball back at the forefront. Whaley received a job offer in Imperial that gave him the ability to coach his son as the Head Varsity basketball coach for the Buena Vista Independent School District.²⁹¹ Along with being the coach, he joined as the school counselor, technology director, and college dual-credit proctor/teacher.²⁹² As the first Black person to hold an administrative position, Whaley had a desire to change the small town's outlook on his race from just what the population saw on TV.²⁹³

His impact was felt through the many hats he wore, and Whaley's presence became an intimate part of the school's atmosphere; he brought in a diverse group of students, from new transfers seeking dual-credit opportunities to student-athletes looking for a college scholarship.²⁹⁴ His two children were the first Black students to grace the halls of Buena Vista High School and soon the first to graduate from the school. In rural West Texas, those who meet in the high school's board room every two weeks wield a tremendous influence.²⁹⁵ Unfortunately, when a series of transformative changes began to take place within the Buena Vista School District, the school board deliberated on whether these changes, which challenged

the status quo, were positive or negative.²⁹⁶ It became evident that certain board members sought to uphold and perpetuate Whiteness as a fundamental source of power and privilege in the town. In April 2018, following a closed session during a school board meeting, a vote was conducted, resulting in the non-renewal of Whaley's three-year contract.²⁹⁷ This meant they let go not only the sole Black employee in the school district, but they also succeeded in displacing the employee's family.²⁹⁸ Essentially by firing David Whaley they removed all the Black people from the town. For Whaley, this meant his new dream was put on hold and the career path in education once again became a secondary option for upward mobility.²⁹⁹

This was not the first or second time that Whaley had pivoted from education back to the industry that kept the lights on for his family.³⁰⁰ In 2018, with three kids in college, he returned to the oil industry.³⁰¹ Though working in oil was not his passion, David Whaley excelled in this lucrative type of work.³⁰² He understood the ebb and flow of work in the oil field.³⁰³ He knew when to look for jobs in the discovery sector to best position for social climbing.³⁰⁴

That said, Whaley's forays into education were hardly flights of fancy. Alongside oil, education is a dominant industry in West Texas. In fact, many school administrators are very impactful to their community because so much of what they do affects the small rural towns.³⁰⁵ They are landowners and employers for the majority of the townspeople.³⁰⁶ However, even with their influence both at the school and in community, the youth are still uninterested in obtaining higher education.³⁰⁷ Rather than working for what could be deemed as an essential and primary local institution, many young people seek employment in other industries, the most promising of course being oil.³⁰⁸ This phenomenon has taken place because 1) educators in West Texas are viewed as non-progressive traditionalists by the youth, 2) the lure of the lucrative oil industry, and 3) West Texans value economic class over one's social status and influence. Despite

educators holding key positions as administrators functioning as a governing force in the town, education, both as a career and as a discipline, is a secondary route to upward mobility. This goes against the traditional view of education being the gateway to success.

Impact of the Education Industry on Rural West Texas Communities

Education and Community at BVISD

Beneath the surface of small rural towns in West Texas are independent school districts that can run an entire town's population.³⁰⁹ Education administrators carry relevance and influence in West Texas because of the impact of education policy on communities.³¹⁰ These school districts, and the buildings that they are attached to, are not simply buildings or houses but socially constructed sites. Most of these sites are a part of the residue from the Jim Crow era in the south. Though the policy has changed and made it illegal to control a site based on its racial makeup, the decisions made in school board rooms have an impact on rural communities. The town of Imperial, Texas, where David Whaley was residing, showcases how towns in West Texas are shaped by school policy and administration.

Imperial, Texas, has a population of less than 300 people.³¹¹ Its small size creates a unique environment for its citizens. For example, the town is governed directly by Pecos County and the county office is located in Fort Stockton, Texas, which is 31 miles from Imperial. Because of the distance separating the town from its official form of governance, the school district, as the only state industry and largest industry in town, became the on-site governing force when it was created in 1910.³¹² And as the town grew smaller in population in the twentieth century, the administrative offices in the education system became the city builders, making decisions on the town's spatial dynamics.³¹³ Hence, there is a causal relationship between the spatial distance of the county and the social meaning of the education system.³¹⁴

During the Civil Rights Era (1954-1968), in West Texas, there was a boom in the oilfield and agriculture industry that allowed for the population of Imperial to grow from 250 in 1949 to nearly 1,000 people.³¹⁵ Throughout that time Imperial's financial district was at an all-time high with about 26 individual businesses including multiple restaurants and a gas station. It was predominantly white, if not entirely, and was an upper-middle-class town. However, a large drought inevitably struck West Texas in the early 1980s and created high saline levels and a decline in the water supply sparking a time of massive deindustrialization.³¹⁶ In the early 2010s, the oilfield industry hit a recession, laying off thousands of oilfield workers in the area.³¹⁷ Today, the deindustrialized town has an Independent School District, food truck, and local post office as the only operating businesses in town. Its median household income in 2022 was \$75,250, and its racial demographics were 81% White, 6% Native American, and 12% Other Races.³¹⁸

The Buena Vista Independent School District (BVISD) is the sole reason the town has operated after oil industries left the remote area. The school became a place of shared use amongst the town's citizens. The school is physically located where most citizens would consider the center of town, however, it is actually located in the Northwestern part of town.³¹⁹ Though it may not technically be central, it has remained extremely accessible to those who live in town. With new facilities built, including a football field with a track, Apple computer labs, and an auditorium, the school over time became the place for not only education, but also leisure.

BVISD, or the education system, set up an inter-local agreement with Pecos County in 1910 to regulate the use of the space, but was not really utilized until 2010.³²⁰ This agreement has allowed for the school to operate as a place for different services to the community.³²¹ The school is used for community service events, its cafeteria serves as a restaurant for people passing through the county during the school day, and its auditorium is also used for funerals.³²²

Again, Imperial, Texas and BVISD are simply examples of a common phenomenon between school districts and towns in West Texas. Though it serves as a shared space, this does not guarantee peace among the community members and school administrators. Tensions often arise when the school provides for *some* of its employees, but not the population of the entire town.

The Dual Role of Education in BVISD

The school district not only serves as a governing agent, but service providers as well. In Imperial, the school organizes most of the employees' homes because it provides teacher/staff housing.³²³ For David Whaley, this drastically affected his reality. Oftentimes, we think that displacement only happens in major cities like New York, Boston, and Los Angeles, but in Imperial and other small towns, we see that there is displacement on even the minuscule level. After Whaley's contract was not renewed, his family had to leave the town because there were no apartments or forms of affordable housing in Imperial.³²⁴ In fact, the rest of the housing in Imperial is either family-owned or built on land owned by Rooney Inc., which is an out-of-town buyer.³²⁵

When people started leaving Imperial drastically to find work after the huge drought in the 1980s, BVISD understood migration into the town would become static. People began selling their land and homes for extremely low prices. The school district took advantage of this opportunity and bought plots of land and homes with their fund balance.³²⁶ BVISD decided to offer to rent out the homes to employees of the school district for a low mortgage in order to allow them to afford to live in town and make the commute to surrounding towns for their necessities.³²⁷ Imperial has an absence of retail services - the only business or industry in town is the school. The school administrators have a meeting with the school board when deciding

whether to give an employer a home, and which house in town to give them. The majority of teachers live on Teacher Road, however, there are four lots of land dispersed throughout town that the school owns and provides to teachers.³²⁸

The homes other residents live in were typically passed down through generations from the time they were built—a time of Jim Crow and racial segregation. In other words, these homes were passed down through members of white families, which explains the absence of minorities living in Imperial. Working class Hispanics and other minorities typically don't live in Imperial but in surrounding towns such as Fort Stockton or Coyanosa. Over time as most of the homes in Imperial were passed down to white families, minority families found themselves living on land, but not owning it. For example, there are three trailer parks in the town that are predominantly Hispanic, two of which are full.³²⁹ Relatively high land prices often prevented Hispanic land ownership, though recently Hispanic individuals have started to own land in Imperial.³³⁰ And although the organization of residential housing may seem trivial, it is in fact crucial when thinking about the town's racial dynamics. After all, alongside the population growth and decay the town government (the county) failed to provide housing for potential residents. Instead, the school district rebuilt the Imperial population by providing houses for over half of the population to reside in.

If the school district stopped supporting the growth of the town, Imperial would cease to exist. However, BVISD is in control of more than what meets the eye. Because its citizens became socially attached to the space, it became more than just an education system; it became their form of government, policing, real estate, and employment. When the county seat's policy allowed for the vast distance between the town and its governing seat, operations like these became legal. Without an inter local agreement between the county and the school, the school would not be able to operate as such a force and the town would have become a completely desolate and abandoned site. Through the powerful stakeholders on the school board, school administration, and offices, Buena Vista Independent School district can govern much of what happens in Imperial, Texas.

Although there is no question that in West Texas education systems can be viewed as a form of governance and educators are influential stakeholders, the youth in West Texas do not greatly aspire to be change agents in the education field. Despite educators across the region having an influential role in these small towns, there is an ambivalent approach to education as the pathway to make it in West Texas. Perhaps the youth does not truly understand the inner workings of how educators influence policies of the population, or perhaps it is something else. While not everyone is called into education, it is one of the major industries in West Texas. That is why it may be a surprise that the national staffing shortages for educators are felt tremendously in these rural towns. When I interviewed Whaley as someone who worked directly with the youth as a high school counselor and technology director, I could not help but to ask why the youth are not attracted to building out a career in education. Education seems like a sustainable option as a career for graduates, yet it remains unattractive. Why?

The Traditionalists

The Generational Divide

One of the reasons there is an ambivalent approach to education in West Texas is because educators who have held their positions for many years are often negatively viewed as traditionalists.³³¹ Due to the job shortages in education, there are now many teachers and administrators who have served in their position beyond just a few years; they have served in their respective titles for multiple decades.³³² In many ways, the issue is a generational

disconnect, but high school students tend to believe their elder educators are not adept at connecting with what is taking place in society.³³³ Whaley was able to witness this firsthand at the most recent school district he has been employed by: Pecos-Barstow-Toyah Independent School District (PBTISD).

Whaley began working for the Pecos-Barstow-Toyah Independent School District (PBTISD) as a Technology Director in November 2020, after the oil industry slowed down due to the pandemic.³³⁴ For educators in West Texas, the pandemic impacted their work for just a few months and by August of 2020 schools were back to their standard for in-person learning.³³⁵ Despite being in times of uncertainty, it was expected that Whaley would commute to work on-site daily.³³⁶ PBTISD is in Pecos, Texas, which is about a 30-minute drive from Imperial, Texas, and a 45-minute drive from his current residence in Fort Stockton. During Whaley's drive to Pecos High School, he notices the dry, shabby roads closest to the school which are a side effect of larger issue than normal wear and tear from active use.³³⁷

The population of Pecos reflects that of the greater Permian basin in West Texas, over 75% of its population is Hispanic or Latino.³³⁸ Although classified as one of the small towns in West Texas, it is the largest town in Reeves County. From Pre-K through grade 12, it is home to just under 2,700 students, with each graduating class containing 350+ students.³³⁹ The school is a central piece of the community. Across teachers and other staff, PBTISD has employed over 400 people, making it one of the largest employers in Pecos, Texas.³⁴⁰ Though the town's total population has increased over the last couple of decades, its educational facilities look the same as they did half a century ago.

Beneath the Paint

As Whaley wandered through the hallways, he noticed peeling paint in some of the corners, perhaps due to negligence.³⁴¹ Peeling paint, as he later learned, was the least worrisome of his findings. In fact, by the end of the first week, Whaley knew exactly what he had gotten himself into.³⁴² The teachers were so far removed from understanding how to operate the new computers, tablets, and Wi-Fi that they left most technology untouched, collecting dust in storage spaces.³⁴³ The school had poor usage of most of its state funded technology and had many incidents of improper utilization of devices.³⁴⁴ Indeed, the system the school functioned on was nearly a decade out of date. This led to the students essentially walking around in an archaic school district.

Whaley did not accept his position unaware of the situation.³⁴⁵ One of the main reasons he accepted the job offer was the opportunity to transform an entire district with technology.³⁴⁶ Unfortunately, like many of the other West Texan school districts, he was surrounded by lots of traditionalists, the opposite of technology enthusiasts.³⁴⁷ Many of his coworkers were older than him and unfamiliar with how to use basic computer devices and their applications.³⁴⁸ Not only would he need to teach staff members how to use technology, but he would also need to build a culture that valued the use technology in classroom spaces. Whaley had to become comfortable with dancing back and forth between his office and instructional spaces because his office was not located in any of the main school buildings.³⁴⁹ The technology staff were set aside in a portable classroom building.³⁵⁰ They were tucked away on the side of the high school almost as if they mirror the district's value of technology.³⁵¹ Luckily, Whaley had the support of the school district's superintendent. With the largest stakeholders' support, he had full range to transform the technology in the school district as needed so that it could reflect the times.³⁵²

Perhaps the height of the pandemic exposed the vulnerable parts of the education system that lacked generational diversity. Whaley shared that "their traditional way of teaching is not connected with the new generations way of learning."³⁵³ During the pandemic, while teachers were sending students home with paper packets, PBTISD students discovered through social media that across the country, other teachers were utilizing the virtual space to transform the classroom.³⁵⁴ PBTISD had not found a way to leverage the technology at their disposal to teach its students at a time when it was needed the most. Their teachers were plugged into a system that was outdated. Students naturally began to associate education with the place where relevance goes to die. Schools in West Texas do not market education, so the youth are unmotivated to pursue a career in it, even if teachers and high-level administrators are high earners in the community. Individually, educators do not do a good job of advocating their own career paths to students. As a result, we have entire generations of youth ambivalent toward education.

Without adapting to the current times, PBTISD as well as school districts within the greater West Texas region, will inevitably degrade. Their state of perpetual stagnancy will negatively impact the quality of education being produced. The current ambivalent approach towards education is unsustainable in small towns like Pecos, Texas. A more direct approach is needed to address the issues plaguing the system and change the status quo. Teachers must adapt by utilizing the resources available to them, technological or otherwise. Administrators within the system need to be intentional about removing the culture of traditional education. This self-preservation approach has been sustained by educators feeling intimidated by change and fearful of being replaced.³⁵⁵ To address the ambivalence, stakeholders must find ways to make

education more appealing and rewarding than other industries, especially those that are prevalent in West Texas such as oil.

The Oil Industry: The Primary Route to Upward Mobility

Unlike some of the traditionalist educators who make up most of the people in the West Texas education system, the oil industry uses advanced technology to ensure efficiency for the extraction of oil, making their industry more attractive to young adults.³⁵⁶ Though the school is the largest employer in town, the recent revitalization of the oil industry is what provides opportunity for capital growth and upward mobility.³⁵⁷ It is rare to live in a rural West Texan town and see a household absent of someone who works in the oil industry. The oil industry is the largest employer in West Texas because it pays well, and most of the small towns are located closer to oil rigs than larger cities like Midland, Odessa, and El Paso. Oil field workers also make up some of the upper middle-class population of towns. If a household does not have a member working in administration for the school district, owns their own business, or works at the hospital, they most likely house an oilfield worker.³⁵⁸

Some of the students that Whaley knew in both Imperial and Pecos were granted scholarships for sports or academic scholarships but later left higher education to work in the oil industry.³⁵⁹ He shared the example of Carlos Fernandez the valedictorian of his graduating class and Ethen Evans, the salutatorian, who both were accepted into colleges.³⁶⁰ As valedictorian and salutatorian in Texas, they were given the opportunity to pursue their first year for free with a scholarship awarded by the Texas Higher Education system.³⁶¹ Despite the advantages and accolades, they both dropped out to pursue a career in the oil industry.³⁶² Even with talent and opportunities, students may find themselves at a crossroads deciding whether to continue their educational studies or pursuing a lucrative career in oil.

Emmanuel Rojas was another student that Whaley knew on a personal level. He was best friends with Whaley's son, and fortunately I was able to have a conversation with Emmanuel concerning his decision to discontinue pursuing a degree in Petroleum Engineering. In high school at BVISD, Emmanuel was an A/B student academically and a tri-sport athlete – football, basketball and track.³⁶³ Emmanuel's father, Edgar, has 20+ years of work experience in the oil industry and his mother was an educator.³⁶⁴ Edgar works in a position that is directly alongside petroleum engineers. At times he helps them gain hands-on experience, since most of the time engineers are remote on a computer. Emmanuel shared, "he doesn't have a degree, but I believe that my father could be a really good petroleum engineer. But since he doesn't have that degree, he can't get the job."³⁶⁵ Edgar only has a high school diploma but has been making it work for his family. He wanted something better for his son because he knew the limitations in the industry an aspiring petroleum engineer would face without the right accreditation.³⁶⁶

One day during the fall of his senior year in high school, Emmanuel came home from school and his parents were sitting at the kitchen table alongside two of his father's colleagues. He thought he was in trouble for something because the two men were dressed very nicely which is atypical for West Texas attire. Emmanuel asked his parents, "what did I do?" Then his parents encouraged him to sit at the table and listen.³⁶⁷ The men introduced themselves as Daniel Lewis and Alonso Rodriguez, they were petroleum engineers, an occupation that Emmanuel had shown a recent interest in.³⁶⁸ Emmanuel, though excited to speak to them, did not know where to begin or the questions to ask. Finally, he asked the simple question, "so what do you do, exactly?"³⁶⁹ They explained that most of what they do is math, and for Emmanuel this was great news because all throughout high school he was known as a "math whiz." It was after that conversation that he thought "why not pursue a degree in petroleum engineering?"³⁷⁰

To become a petroleum engineer he would have to receive at least a master's degree, which he was never 100% sure about. However, one thing he was sure about was staying closer to home. To his surprise he came across an incredible program at the University of Texas at the Permian Basin located in Odessa, Texas. At the time they had just finished constructing a building specifically dedicated to Petroleum Engineering.³⁷¹ This opportunity seemed like it would be the next best step as it was a program close to home and in the heart of the oil capital of the United States.

After being accepted and starting the semester in the fall of 2018, the workload was mentally exhausting. It was difficult balancing being away from family, the school schedule, and trying to support himself. One day in the middle of the semester, he had three major tests back-to-back, with only about 10 minutes of a break to walk in-between classes. Despite the amount of programming, conversations with school administrators, and his parents, he questioned whether this truly was the right decision for him.³⁷² Then, "three quarters into my first semester, I felt burnt out," he explained to me.³⁷³ He made the decision to finish the semester, then to transition into the workforce. "Everyone around me just kept telling me that it was okay for me to leave, just to make sure I stayed busy."³⁷⁴ Emmanuel shared that he feared other people's opinions more than he feared not being able to make money without a college degree.

Social Status and Its Connection to Financial Freedom

There were people around him that spoke negatively about pursuing a collegiate degree. He explained that "they don't see the point of it, they feel like college is blinding you from the real world and how it works. Yeah, you're learning all this educational stuff, but you need experience in the job you're pursuing or whatever career you're pursuing."³⁷⁵ There is a lure to the oil industry because of the opportunities to social climb speedily. Financial freedom is valued more when considering social mobility. Blue collar work is considered more valuable than wearing a white collar as an educator. Unfortunately, in West Texas, education is simply a longer pathway to success. In this day when there is a high market for oil, it is not so simple to justify spending tens of thousands of dollars on an education when the job market is at an extreme high in the oil industry.

After discontinuing his education, Emmanuel received a job in a pulling unit which is one of the mechanisms used in the extraction side of the industry.³⁷⁶ His job consists of physical labor, and he works from sunup to sundown. He does not mind the work because it is around people that are more knowledgeable about the oil industry than he is.³⁷⁷ He shared, "the quicker you learn, the more quickly you move up."³⁷⁸ Young adults may associate the oil industry with financial stability; however, they can be misguided. Just as it may be a surprise to learn that administrative educators have control over surrounding communities in West Texas, it may be a surprise to learn the oil industry is not as financially sustainable as it is idealized to be.

The oil field provides a mirage of success, especially for young adults who are right out of college, or perhaps college dropouts.³⁷⁹ Because they do not understand the ebb and flow of the oil field and how it has times and seasons of highs and lows, they believe that the oil field is sustainable for an indefinite amount of time.³⁸⁰ However, this is not the case, although they are making six figures at the time that they are working, able to afford a new truck, a house, and all of the luxuries that a person who makes six figures could enjoy, they do not realize that every now and then there will be a dip in the oil fields activity.³⁸¹ In those seasons of the dips, many layoffs take place, and within a blink of an eye, the recent college graduate who is making six figures is now fighting to find another job or two in order to maintain the lifestyle that they once could afford.³⁸² What recent high school graduates don't realize is that education could provide a

more consistent flow of income, although it is not six figures for several months at a time and then no income at all, it does provide a way for a sustainable lifestyle.

When the oil field goes bust, those working it are forced to find a job to help sustain their livelihood until the oil field recovers and their jobs become available again. This happens a lot in the oil industry. If someone works in this field, then they know they must plan for the seasons of downtime. It is just part of the job and a way of life for many in West Texas. Many oil field workers are forced to do this type of job because it is very lucrative, and you can obtain it without needing a 4-year degree or education.³⁸³ In fact, according to salary.com the average oilfield hand averages \$57,000 a year straight out of high school, which is a similar average for a bachelor's degree holder after they have graduated with their four-year degree.³⁸⁴

The work that recent high school graduates enter is a much more dire field than education; they delve into the work in the oil field. Oil rigs tend to be far away from civilization, the only people they interact with are those that stay out on an oil rig location living in travel trailers for weeks at a time.³⁸⁵ Whaley explained, "If those [people] are all white, or male, that becomes your habitat, your environment."³⁸⁶ At times workers may find themselves the only representative of a population in a 30-to-40-mile radius.³⁸⁷ People tend to sacrifice their comfort around diversity for the payoff of working out on the location. My father shared how there were multiple times where he went out on location and as an engineer, he and the small group of two or three other engineers were surrounded by 40-50 blue collar workers.³⁸⁸ This meant in a 30-to-40-mile radius they were potentially the only people with bachelor-level degrees.³⁸⁹

Some companies have different requirements for background checks, and perhaps allow or are more lenient with potential employees with a criminal record.³⁹⁰ So not only could a person potentially be the only degree holder in a 30-to-40-mile radius, but they could also be

surrounded by a group of people where 2/3 of the working population had been involved in some sort of criminal activity at one point. My father shared that "it was crazy that it was the norm, I would seem like some sort of anomaly, but I am not. They'd be like 'you went to college? Y'know college isn't for everybody.' So, there I am, with 40 people talking like this, I am now on the outskirts because I went and got a college degree. They'd look at me and the other engineers like 'what kind of idiots are y'all?"³⁹¹ When workers that otherwise would be considered in alignment with the norm in greater society begin to pick up idiosyncrasies from a particular rig location, it projects the culture of the rig upon the greater population – even if it's wayward from a large population of society.

Rethinking Success

Education is not the sole pathway to success in West Texas, or anywhere else in the United States. The ambivalence surrounding education in the region is not necessarily rooted in a debate over its merits, but rather in its perceived utility. It raises the question of whether education is essential for achieving success. Is education necessary to "make it?" Emmanuel shared that, "[he] wouldn't say that [it is]."³⁹² Emmanuel's perspective reflects this sentiment, as his story highlights that there are individuals who have achieved the American dream both with and without a degree. He emphasized that the choice to pursue higher education is a personal one: "You're going to make it with or without the degree, but if you want to pursue it, it's there if you want it."³⁹³ West Texas may be unique in providing such abundant and prosperous career options that do not require a college education. By embracing a broader perspective on success and fostering opportunities across different spheres, we can ensure that the American dream remains attainable for all, regardless of their educational path.

Epilogue

Lessons from a Changing World

As I reflect on my research and the impact it has had on my personal ideas of success, I cannot help but think about how recent events have changed our world. The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the importance of community and the role it plays in shaping our lives. This research has allowed me to see the impact of political identity, the role of women in the oil industry, and the ambivalent approach to education in shaping the communities of West Texas. It has also allowed me to see the power of resilience and the importance of persistence in achieving success. Recent events have forced us to confront the fragility of our lives and the systems that shape them. As I conducted my research, I witnessed firsthand how these systems can either support or hinder social mobility and success. This underscores the need for a more equitable society where everyone has the opportunity to thrive, regardless of their background or circumstances.

Adaptability and flexibility are key in the face of unforeseen challenges. As we navigated uncertainty and disruption, we were forced to adjust our expectations and goals. It made me realize that success is not a fixed concept, but rather a fluid and ever-changing one that is shaped by our experiences and circumstances. It also highlighted the need for a more comprehensive approach to success that includes not only financial and material prosperity but also mental and physical health, community involvement, and personal fulfillment. Overall, the pandemic has emphasized the interconnectedness of our lives and the need for collective action to overcome challenges. As we move forward, it is essential that we continue to prioritize equity, inclusivity, and perseverance in our communities and our society as a whole.

West Texas: A Region Evolving Amidst Challenges

West Texas has long been known for its conservatism, and political identities continue to play a significant role in shaping the region. The oil industry also shapes social mobility and the economic prosperity of the region although women are sparsely represented in the industry. In addition, there remains an ambivalent approach to education, with some seeing it as essential to success while others see it as unnecessary. Now that the pandemic has subsided, things have changed. The region is slowly recovering from the economic impact of the pandemic, and people are re-evaluating their priorities. Women are understanding that to see a difference in a maledominated industry, they must petition for equal treatment. The pandemic has also shifted the view of the importance of education and the need to invest in it to prepare for future challenges.

Despite the pandemic's impact on the region, political identities remain a strong influence on West Texas. The region has long been considered a conservative stronghold, and this trend shows no signs of abating. However, there is also a growing recognition of the need for more diverse voices and perspectives to shape the region's future. The pandemic has forced people to confront the interconnectedness of our lives and the need for collective action to overcome challenges. As such, there is a growing sense of community and a renewed focus on working together to create a more equitable and inclusive future. The oil industry has also undergone significant changes in recent years, with women having an influence on the industry's policies. In the face of the industry's long-standing male-dominated culture, women have shattered barriers and, like Maricela, have assumed roles that were once solely occupied by men. This trend is expected to continue as the industry adapts to new technologies and a changing global landscape.

77

While there continues to be varying views of the importance of education, there is agreement on the need to invest in technology for students to be prepared and relevant in the future workforce. Many students and educators have had to adapt to online learning and new technologies. This experience has underscored the need for more investment in education to ensure that students are equipped with the skills and knowledge they need to succeed in an increasingly digital and interconnected world. There is also a growing recognition of the importance of lifelong learning and the need to provide opportunities for people to continue to develop their skills throughout their lives. While the pandemic has had a significant impact on West Texas, it has also created opportunities for positive change. As the region recovers and adapts to the new reality, there is a growing focus on community, equity, and inclusion. The region's political identity, the role of women in the oil industry, and the approach to education are all evolving. It is up to the residents of West Texas to ensure that these changes are positive and beneficial for everyone in the region.

Trends and Insights: Resilience, Persistence, and Beyond

During my research, I noticed several trends. First, many people in West Texas see success as being closely tied to their political identity. Second, women are still having difficulty navigating the terrain of gender dynamics in the oil industry, despite the advancement in technologies and professional development opportunities the industry provides. Finally, despite being a relatively stable industry in contrast to the volatile oil industry, education is not considered the predominant route to success in the region. I also noticed that many people in West Texas are incredibly resilient and persistent, and these qualities are essential to achieving success in the region. Despite the challenges they face, they continue to push forward, adapting to change and finding new ways to succeed or to think about success. In terms of political identity, I found that many people in West Texas identify as conservative, but their workplace is where their political identity was shaped. Thus, many people view success as being closely tied to their political beliefs. This is particularly true when it comes to issues related to entrepreneurs and those who are in large capital industries. For the region, this includes, but is not limited to, the oil and gas industry, financial service industries, and agricultural industries. Those who support these industries tend to view it as a critical aspect of the region's success, while those who are critical of it tend to view it as a source of degradation and inequality. This divide has led to a sense of polarization in the region, with many people feeling that their political beliefs are essential to their personal sense of success.

Regarding the role of women in the oil industry, I found that there is a growing recognition of the importance of diversity and inclusion. Many companies are actively seeking to hire more women and promote them to leadership positions. However, there are still challenges to be addressed, such as ensuring that women receive equal pay and are not subjected to discrimination or harassment. Despite these challenges, the increasing presence of women in the industry is a positive trend that is likely to continue in the future.

In terms of education, I found that there is a mixed approach to its value. Some people see education as essential to success, while others view it as unnecessary, especially in industries such as oil and gas that place more emphasis on experience and on-the-job training. This mixed sentiment can be attributed in part to the region's historical focus on industries such as oil and gas, which may not necessitate formal education for success. However, as the region continues to diversify its economy and faces new challenges, such as the impact of the pandemic, the importance of education is likely to become increasingly recognized.

In general, I found that the people of West Texas possess a sense of resilience and persistence that is essential to achieving success in the region. Despite facing significant challenges such as economic downturns and natural disasters, they continue to push forward, finding new ways to succeed and adapt to changing circumstances. This resilience is likely to be critical in the coming years as the region faces new challenges, such as the need to address climate change and prepare for a more technologically advanced future.

Implications for a Changing America and Academia

This research has significant implications for the United States of America and academia. The political identities of individuals have become increasingly important and will remain relevant when considering how individuals perceive success in the region. Understanding the impact of political identity on success is essential to developing policies and programs that can help people succeed, regardless of their political affiliations. Women share space with men in the oil industry and that will not change in the region, so equity must be at the forefront in discussions about making the shared spaces safe and secure. Understanding the unique challenges that women face in the industry and developing strategies to support them will be critical to promoting gender equity and ensuring that everyone has an equal opportunity to succeed. Finally, the uncertainty around the utility of education is a challenge that must be addressed. While pursuing higher education is not critical to success in West Texas, educators should continue to adapt and cultivate a high-quality education for K-12 students. Shaping the youth positively is essential to promoting genomic growth and prosperity.

In addition, this research highlights the importance of understanding the intersectionality of various identities and factors that contribute to success. For instance, the role of gender, race, and socio-economic status cannot be ignored. The study found that women, particularly women of color, face unique challenges in the oil industry, and those from rural areas are less likely to have a technologically sound education, given the lack of access. Therefore, accounting for the intersectionality of these factors can help create a more inclusive and equitable society. Moreover, the findings of this research also have implications for academia. Understanding the unique challenges and opportunities in West Texas can help shape educational and research programs that are better tailored to the region's needs. For instance, developing programs that address the skills gap in the oil industry or providing greater access to technology for those from rural backgrounds could have a significant impact on the region's economic growth and prosperity.

Additionally, this research highlights the need for interdisciplinary approaches to understanding success and social mobility. By integrating perspectives from sociology, psychology, economics, and other disciplines, we can develop a more comprehensive understanding of the factors that contribute to success and create policies and programs that better address the needs of individuals and communities. Ultimately, this research highlights the need for continued attention to the factors that contribute to success and social mobility, particularly in regions like West Texas. This research on the West Texas region has also provided an opportunity to see microcosms of underlying vulnerabilities in other regions during the Trump-Era.

In conclusion, the research I have conducted sheds light on the impact of political identity, the role of women in the oil industry, and the ambivalent approach to education in shaping social mobility and success in West Texas. It is essential to understand these factors' intersectionality and bring awareness because although the region is often neglected in mainstream research and media when solutions are developed for this region, they could benefit all American society. Developing creative solutions will require more interdisciplinary work and continued research to gain an understanding of the unique challenges and opportunities in different West Texas communities.

Community, Equity, and Collective Action

As we look to the future, it is essential to understand the trends and challenges facing West Texas are the challenges of the United States of America. We must develop policies and programs that support individuals, regardless of their political affiliations, and promote economic growth and prosperity. We must also work to support women in male-dominated industries and ensure that everyone has an equal opportunity to succeed. Finally, we must determine the role of education with success and social mobility to ensure that the education systems remain adept. By bringing awareness to the unique challenges and trends facing West Texas and the United States of America, we can develop strategies to support individuals and promote economic growth and prosperity.

Looking ahead, it is important to recognize the impact of political identity, especially as it pertains to the success of individuals in the United States. With polarization becoming increasingly common, we must create spaces for individuals to be able to express themselves regardless of their political affiliations. A successful nation is one where everyone can achieve their potential, regardless of their background or beliefs. Moreover, the unique challenges that women face in male-dominated industries like oil, need the support of individuals to change their work culture and environment. As women continue to play an increasingly important role in these economically lucrative industries, promoting gender equity is essential to ensure that everyone has an equal opportunity to succeed. This is not only a matter of social justice but also an economic imperative, as studies have shown that gender diversity can lead to increased profitability and innovation in companies.

Finally, education remains a crucial factor in understanding social mobility and success. The pandemic has highlighted the importance of rethinking the utility of education. It has provided space for individuals to have job security, but as a pursuit, young adults remain hesitant of placing value on a traditional education. Remaining adaptable and open to rethinking higher education's utility is essential as we move into the future. In conclusion, by recognizing the impact of political identity, supporting women in male-dominated industries, and rethinking the utility of education, we can create a more prosperous and equitable future. Community, resilience, and persistence remain essential to achieving success, but for individual growth, and to address the challenges that we are facing today, we must continue to share individual stories like that of Ana Maria Jimenez, Stephanie Carrasco, Maricela Fuentez, David Whaley, and Emmanuel Rojas that shape our country.

End Notes

Stephanie Carrasco, COVID update with Stephanie Carrasco., interview by Dayla Weems, 2020., Stephanie Carrasco, Interview with Stephanie Carrasco., interview by Dayla Weems, 2019., Victor Carreon, Everyday Violence in the Oilfield, interview by Dayla Weems, April 28, 2020., Estrella Dominguez, COVID update with Estrella Dominguez., interview by Dayla Weems, 2021., Estrella Dominguez, Interview with Estrella Dominguez., interview by Dayla Weems, 2019., Cassie Evans, Interview with Cassie Evans., interview by Dayla Weems, 2019., Ethen Evans, Interview with Ethen Evans., interview by Dayla Weems, 2019., Elida Fabela, Interview with Ana Maria's Mother, interview by Dayla Weems, 2019., Irene Fabela, Georgiana Fabela, and Norma Whaley, Conversation with Ana Maria's relatives, interview by Dayla Weems, 2019., Maricela Fuentez, Interview with Maricela Fuentez, interview by Dayla Weems, June 21, 2021., Cruz Gomez, Imperial Texas History and School Board Interactions., interview by Dayla Weems, 2018., Eric Gomez, History of Imperial Texas, interview by Dayla Weems, 2018., Milton Hunt, Experience as a black educator in West Texas, interview by Dayla Weems, 2019., Ana Maria Jimenez, COVID Update with Ana Maria, interview by Dayla Weems, 2020., Ana Maria Jimenez, Interview with Ana Maria., interview by Dayla Weems, October 14, 2019., Emmanuel Rojas, Interview with Emmanuel Rojas., interview by Dayla Weems, May 21, 2022., David Whaley, 2022 Update interview with David Whaley, interview by Dayla Weems, March 12, 2022., David Whaley, COVID Update with David Whaley, interview by Dayla Weems, May 17, 2020. David Whaley, Education Journey: Interview with David Whaley, interview by Dayla Weems, July 15, 2022., David Whaley, Experience in Imperial Texas, interview by Dayla Weems, 2018., David Whaley, Hidden Transcripts of the Oil Industry: Interview with David Whaley., interview by Dayla Weems, May 8, 2020. Jessica Whetsel, COVID Update with Jessica Whetsel., interview by Dayla Weems, 2019., Jessica Whetsel, Interview with Jessica Whetsel., interview by Dayla Weems, 2019. ² Andrew Ross, "The Case for Scholarly Reporting," *The Minnesota Review* 2009, no. 71-72 (May 1, 2009): 242– 47, https://doi.org/10.1215/00265667-2009-71-72-242. ³ Barbara Ehrenreich, *Nickel and Dimed*. (Henry Holt and Company, 2001). ⁴ Matthew Desmond, *Evicted: Poverty and Profit in the American City* (New York: B\D\W\Y, Broadway Books, 2016). ⁵ Amy Goldstein, Janesville: An American Story (Simon and Schuster, 2017). ⁶ Examples of scholarly literature focused on the southwest region include: Lone Star Politics by Ken Collier, Steven Galatas, and Julie Harrelson-Stephens and The Borderlands of Race by Jennifer R Nájera,. For Andrew Ross, see The Case for Scholarly Reporting. ⁷ Jimenez, Ana Maria. 2019. Interview with Ana Maria Jimenez Interview by Dayla Weems. ⁸ Cadava, Geraldo L. 2021. The Hispanic Republican the Shaping of an American Political Identity, from Nixon to Trump. New York, NY: Ecco, an imprint of HarperCollins Publishers. ⁹ Jimenez, Ana Maria. 2019. Interview with Ana Maria Jimenez Interview by Dayla Weems. ¹⁰ Ibid. ¹¹ Ibid. ¹² Potter, Lloyd. 2011. "Texas & San Antonio: Characteristics and Trends of the Hispanic Population." Https://Demographics.texas.gov/. November 10, 2011. https://www.google.com/url?client=internal-elementcse&cx=012231170802480257182:wk6znveavj8&q=https://demographics.texas.gov/Resources/Presentations/OSD/ 2012/2012_09_27_Hispanic_Leadership_Summit.pdf&sa=U&ved=2ahUKEwi13K3mkf75AhW_FlkFHbg3B3UQF noECAQQAg&usg=AOvVaw1xqzewfRyOyL uHUcvo795. ¹³ Jimenez, Ana Maria. 2019. Interview with Ana Maria Jimenez Interview by Dayla Weems. ¹⁴ Ibid. ¹⁵ Carson, David. 2022. "Map of the Regions of Texas." Www.texascounties.net. 2022. http://www.texascounties.net/statistics/regions.htm.

¹⁶ "Reference Maps." 2022. Www.txdot.gov. 2022. https://www.txdot.gov/data-maps/reference-maps.html.

¹⁷ Potter, Lloyd. 2020. "TDC - Texas Population Estimates Program." Texas.gov. 2020.

²¹ "U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: Fort Stockton City, Texas." 2022. Www.census.gov. 2022.

https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/fortstocktoncitytexas/AGE295221.

²² Ibid.

²³ Jimenez, Ana Maria. 2019. Interview with Ana Maria Jimenez Interview by Davla Weems.

²⁴ Ibid.

²⁵ Ibid.

²⁶ Ibid.

²⁷ Ibid. ²⁸ Ibid.

²⁹ Ibid.

³⁰ Ibid.

³¹ Ibid.

³² Ibid. ³³ Ibid.

³⁴ Irene Fabela, Georgiana Fabela, and Norma Whaley, Conversation with Ana Maria's relatives, interview by Dayla Weems, 2019.

³⁵ Carrasco, Stephanie. 2019. Interview with Stephanie Carrasco Interview by Dayla Weems.

³⁶ Ibid.

³⁷ Ibid.

³⁸ Ibid.

³⁹ Ibid.

⁴⁰ Ibid.

⁴¹ Whaley, Norma. 2021. Interview with Norma Whaley Interview by Dayla Weems.

⁴² Carrasco, Stephanie. 2019. Interview with Stephanie Carrasco Interview by Dayla Weems.

⁴³ Ibid.

⁴⁴ Ibid.

⁴⁵ Ibid.

⁴⁶ Ibid.

⁴⁷ "U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: Midland City, Texas." 2022. Www.census.gov. 2022.

https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/midlandcitytexas.

⁴⁸ Carrasco, Stephanie. 2019. Interview with Stephanie Carrasco Interview by Davla Weems.

⁴⁹ Ibid.

⁵⁰ Ibid.

⁵¹ Ibid.

⁵² Ibid.

⁵³ Cadava, Geraldo L. 2021. The Hispanic Republican the Shaping of an American Political Identity, from Nixon to Trump. New York, NY: Ecco, an imprint of HarperCollins Publishers.

⁵⁴ Carrasco, Stephanie, 2019. Interview with Stephanie Carrasco Interview by Davla Weems.

⁵⁵ Ibid.

⁵⁶ Ibid.

⁵⁷ Ibid.

⁵⁸ Ibid.

⁵⁹ Ibid.

60 Ibid.

⁶¹ Ibid.

⁶² Ibid.

⁶³ "U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: El Paso City, Texas." 2022. Www.census.gov. 2022. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/elpasocitytexas.

https://demographics.texas.gov/Data/TPEPP/Estimates/.

¹⁸ "History." 2022. Redistricting.capitol.texas.gov. 2022. https://redistricting.capitol.texas.gov/history#maps-section. ¹⁹ Ibid.

²⁰ Irene Fabela, Georgiana Fabela, and Norma Whaley, Conversation with Ana Maria's relatives, interview by Dayla Weems, 2019.

⁶⁴ Carrasco, Stephanie. 2019. Interview with Stephanie Carrasco Interview by Dayla Weems.

65 Ibid.

66 Ibid.

- 67 Ibid.
- 68 Ibid.
- 69 Ibid.
- 70 Ibid.
- 71 Ibid.
- 72 Ibid.
- ⁷³ Ibid.
- ⁷⁴ Ibid.
- ⁷⁵ Ibid.
- ⁷⁶ Ibid.
- ⁷⁷ Ibid.

⁷⁸ Ibid.

⁷⁹ "History." 2022. Redistricting.capitol.texas.gov. 2022. https://redistricting.capitol.texas.gov/history#maps-section.
 ⁸⁰ Walters, Edgar. 2020. "Texas Governor Declares Statewide Emergency, Says State Will Soon Be Able to Test Thousands." The Texas Tribune. March 13, 2020. https://www.texastribune.org/2020/03/13/texas-coronavirus-cases-state-emergency-greg-abbott/.

⁸¹ Jimenez, Ana Maria. 2020. COVID Update with Ana Maria Interview by Dayla Weems.

82 Ibid.

⁸³ Ibid.

84 Ibid.

⁸⁵ Vigdor, Neil. 2020. "Dallas Salon Owner Is Jailed for Defying Order to Stay Closed." The New York Times,

May 6, 2020, sec. U.S. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/05/us/dallas-salon-opens-coronavirus.html.

⁸⁶ Jimenez, Ana Maria. 2020. COVID Update with Ana Maria Interview by Dayla Weems.

⁸⁷ Ibid.

88 Ibid.

⁸⁹ Svitek, Patrick. 2020. "Gov. Greg Abbott to Allow Texas Hair Salons and Pools to Reopen Friday and Gyms to Open May 18." The Texas Tribune. May 5, 2020. https://www.texastribune.org/2020/05/05/texas-reopening-hair-salons-gyms-greg-abbott/.

⁹⁰ Jimenez, Ana Maria. 2020. COVID Update with Ana Maria Interview by Dayla Weems.

⁹¹ Ibid.

92 Ibid.

93 Ibid.

94 Ibid.

⁹⁵ Carrasco, Stephanie. 2020. COVID Update with Stephanie Interview by Dayla Weems.

- ⁹⁶ Ibid.
- 97 Ibid.
- 98 Ibid.
- ⁹⁹ Ibid.
- ¹⁰⁰ Ibid.
- ¹⁰¹ Ibid.
- ¹⁰² Ibid.
- ¹⁰³ Ibid.
- ¹⁰⁴ Ibid. ¹⁰⁵ Ibid.

¹⁰⁶ Ibid.

¹⁰⁷ Ibid.

¹⁰⁸ Ibid.

¹⁰⁹ Ibid.

¹¹⁰ Ibid.

¹¹¹ Ibid.

- ¹¹² Ibid.
- ¹¹³ Ibid.
- ¹¹⁴ Ibid.
- ¹¹⁵ Ibid.
- ¹¹⁶ Ibid.
- ¹¹⁷ Ibid.
- ¹¹⁸ Ibid.
- ¹¹⁹ Ibid.

¹²⁰ Fuentez, Maricela. Interview with Maricela Fuentez. 16 June 2021.

- ¹²¹ Ibid.
- ¹²² Ibid.
- 123 Ibid.
- ¹²⁴ Ibid. ¹²⁵ Ibid.
- 126 Ibid.
- ¹²⁷ Ibid.
- 128 Ibid.
- ¹²⁹ Victor Carreon, Everyday Violence in the Oilfield, interview by Davla Weems, April 28, 2020.
- ¹³⁰ Ibid.
- ¹³¹ Fuentez, Maricela, Interview with Maricela Fuentez, 16 June 2021.
- ¹³² Ibid.
- ¹³³ Ibid.
- ¹³⁴ Ibid.
- ¹³⁵ Ibid.
- ¹³⁶ Ibid.
- 137 Ibid.
- ¹³⁸ Ibid.
- ¹³⁹ Whaley, David. Interview with David Whaley. 7 May 2020.
- ¹⁴⁰ Larry S. Milner, "The History of Texas Business: A Selected Bibliography," The Southwestern Historical Quarterly 99, no. 2 (1995): 217-44, https://www.jstor.org/stable/30239015.
- ¹⁴¹ Roger M. Olien, "TSHA | Oil and Gas Industry," www.tshaonline.org (Texas State Historical Association, December 1, 1995), https://www.tshaonline.org/handbook/entries/oil-and-gas-industry.
- ¹⁴² Larry S. Milner, "The History of Texas Business.".
- ¹⁴³ Ibid.
- ¹⁴⁴ Ibid.
- ¹⁴⁵ Victor Carreon, Everyday Violence in the Oilfield, interview by Dayla Weems, April 28, 2020.
- ¹⁴⁶ David Whaley, Hidden Transcripts of the Oil Industry.
- ¹⁴⁷ Ibid.
- ¹⁴⁸ Victor Carreon, Everyday Violence in the Oilfield.
- ¹⁴⁹ David Whaley, Hidden Transcripts of the Oil Industry.
- ¹⁵⁰ Ibid.
- ¹⁵¹ Ibid.
- ¹⁵² Ibid.
- ¹⁵³ Ibid.

¹⁵⁴ "Oil Field," in Merriam-Webster.com Dictionary (Merriam-Webster, 2020), https://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/oil%20field.

- ¹⁵⁵ David Whaley Sr, Hidden Transcripts of the Oil Industry.
- 156 Ibid.
- ¹⁵⁷ Ibid.
- ¹⁵⁸ Jordan Blum, "Texas growth offsets rig count dip elsewhere," Chron, figure 1.
- ¹⁵⁹ David Whaley Sr, Hidden Transcripts of the Oil Industry.
- ¹⁶⁰ Ibid.
- ¹⁶¹ Victor Carreon, Everyday Violence in the Oilfield.

¹⁶² Rachel Adams-Heard, "Welcome to the 'Man Camps' of West Texas," www.bloomberg.com, August 7, 2018, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2018-08-07/welcome-to-the-man-camps-of-west-texas.

- ¹⁶³ Fuentez, Maricela. Interview with Maricela Fuentez. 16 June 2021.
- ¹⁶⁴ Ibid.
- ¹⁶⁵ "U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: Midland County, Texas." Www.census.gov, 2022,
- www.census.gov/quickfacts/midlandcountytexas.

¹⁶⁶ "Demographics." Odessa TX | Economic Development, 2 Aug. 2017, odessatex.com/research-reports/demographics/. Accessed 10 May 2020.

- ¹⁶⁷ Fuentez, Maricela. Interview with Maricela Fuentez. 16 June 2021.
- ¹⁶⁸ David Whaley Sr, Hidden Transcripts of the Oil Industry.
- ¹⁶⁹ Fuentez, Maricela. Interview with Maricela Fuentez. 16 June 2021.
- ¹⁷⁰ Ibid.
- ¹⁷¹ Ibid.
- ¹⁷² Ibid.
- ¹⁷³ Ibid.
- ¹⁷⁴ Ibid.
- ¹⁷⁵ Ibid.

- ¹⁷⁷ Ibid.
- ¹⁷⁸ Ibid.
- ¹⁷⁹ Ibid.
- ¹⁸⁰ Ibid.
- ¹⁸¹ Ibid.
- ¹⁸² Ibid.

- ¹⁸⁴ David Whaley Sr, Hidden Transcripts of the Oil Industry.
- ¹⁸⁵ Fuentez, Maricela. Interview with Maricela Fuentez. 16 June 2021.
- ¹⁸⁶ Ibid.
- ¹⁸⁷ Ibid.

¹⁸⁸ Leslie Shockley Beyer, "Women in Oil & Gas | SHALE Magazine Oil & Gas," SHALE Magazine, December 11, 2019, <u>https://shalemag.com/where-are-the-women-in-oil-gas-weve-always-been-here/</u>.

- ¹⁸⁹ Fuentez, Maricela. Interview with Maricela Fuentez. 16 June 2021.
- ¹⁹⁰ Ibid.
- ¹⁹¹ Ibid.
- ¹⁹² David Whaley Sr, Hidden Transcripts of the Oil Industry.
- 193 Ibid.

¹⁹⁴ Ibid.

- ¹⁹⁶ Ibid.
- 197 Ibid.
- ¹⁹⁸ Ibid.
- 199 Ibid.
- ²⁰⁰ Ibid.
- ²⁰¹ Ibid.
- ²⁰² Ibid.
- ²⁰³ Ibid.
- ²⁰⁴ Ibid.
- ²⁰⁵ Ibid.
- ²⁰⁶ Ibid.
- ²⁰⁷ Ibid.
- ²⁰⁸ Ibid.
- ²⁰⁹ Ibid.

²¹⁰ Ibid.

²¹¹ Ibid.

¹⁷⁶ David Whaley, Hidden Transcripts of the Oil Industry.

¹⁸³ Fuentez, Maricela. Interview with Maricela Fuentez. 16 June 2021.

¹⁹⁵ Fuentez, Maricela. Interview with Maricela Fuentez. 16 June 2021.

- ²¹² Ibid.
- ²¹³ Ibid.
- ²¹⁴ Ibid.
- ²¹⁵ Ibid.
- ²¹⁶ Ibid.
- ²¹⁷ Ibid.
- ²¹⁸ Ibid.
- ²¹⁹ Whaley, David. Hidden Transcripts of the Oil Industry.
- ²²⁰ Fuentez, Maricela. Interview with Maricela Fuentez. 16 June 2021.
- ²²¹ Whaley, David. Hidden Transcripts of the Oil Industry.
 ²²² Fuentez, Maricela. Interview with Maricela Fuentez. 16 June 2021.
- ²²³ Ibid.
- ²²⁴ Ibid.
- ²²⁵ Ibid.
- ²²⁶ Ibid.
- ²²⁷ Ibid.
- ²²⁸Ibid.
- ²²⁹ Ibid.
- ²³⁰ Ibid.
- ²³¹ Ibid.
- ²³² Ibid.
- ²³³ Ibid.
- ²³⁴ Ibid.
- ²³⁵ Ibid.
- ²³⁶ Ibid.
- ²³⁷ Ibid.
- ²³⁸ Ibid.
- ²³⁹ Ibid.
- ²⁴⁰ Ibid.
- ²⁴¹ Ibid.
- ²⁴² Ibid.
- ²⁴³ Ibid.
- ²⁴⁴ Ibid.
- ²⁴⁵ Ibid.
- ²⁴⁶ Ibid.
- ²⁴⁷ Ibid.
- ²⁴⁸ Ibid. ²⁴⁹ Ibid.
- ²⁵⁰ Ibid.
- ²⁵¹ Ibid. ²⁵² Ibid.
- ²⁵³ Ibid.
- ²⁵⁴ Ibid.
- ²⁵⁵ Ibid.
- ²⁵⁶ Ibid.
- ²⁵⁷ Ibid.
- ²⁵⁸ Ibid.

²⁵⁹ Ibid.

- ²⁶⁰ Ibid.
- ²⁶¹ Ibid.
- ²⁶² Ibid.
- ²⁶³ Ibid.
- ²⁶⁴ Ibid.
- ²⁶⁵ Ibid.

²⁶⁷ Ibid.
²⁶⁸ Ibid.
²⁶⁹ Ibid.
²⁷⁰ Ibid.
²⁷¹ Ibid.
²⁷² Ibid.
²⁷³ Ibid.
²⁷⁴ Ibid.
²⁷⁵ Ibid.
²⁷⁶ Ibid.
²⁷⁷ Ibid.
²⁷⁸ Ibid.
²⁷⁸ Ibid.
²⁸⁰ Ibid.

²⁶⁶ Ibid.

²⁸¹ Ibid.

²⁸² Ibid.

²⁸³ Ibid.

²⁸⁴ Ibid.

²⁸⁵ Ibid.

²⁸⁶ Ibid.

²⁸⁷ Ibid.

²⁸⁸ Ibid.

²⁸⁹ David Whaley, Experience in Imperial Texas, interview by Dayla Weems, 2018.

²⁹⁰ Ibid.

²⁹¹ Ibid.

²⁹² Ibid.

²⁹³ Ibid.

²⁹⁴ Ibid.

²⁹⁵ Cruz Gomez, Imperial Texas History and School Board Interactions., interview by Dayla Weems, 2018. Cruz Gomez is the President of the School board and is also the first Hispanic to hold that position.

²⁹⁶ Eric Gomez, History of Imperial Texas, interview by Dayla Weems, 2018. Eric Gomez is the son of Cruz Gomez, School Board President, and serves as one of the youngest members of the school board.

²⁹⁷ Cruz Gomez, Imperial Texas History and School Board Interactions., interview by Dayla Weems, 2018.

²⁹⁸ David Whaley, Experience in Imperial Texas, interview by Dayla Weems, 2018.

²⁹⁹ David Whaley, Education Journey: Interview with David Whaley, interview by Dayla Weems, July 15, 2022.

300 Ibid.

³⁰¹ Ibid.

³⁰² Ibid.

³⁰³ David Whaley, Hidden Transcripts of the Oil Industry: Interview with David Whaley., interview by Dayla Weems, May 8, 2020.

³⁰⁴ David Whaley, Education Journey: Interview with David Whaley, interview by Dayla Weems, July 15, 2022.

³⁰⁵ Cruz Gomez, Imperial Texas History and School Board Interactions., interview by Dayla Weems, 2018.
 ³⁰⁶ Ibid.

³⁰⁷ David Whaley, Experience in Imperial Texas, interview by Dayla Weems, 2018.

308 Ibid.

³⁰⁹ Cruz Gomez, Imperial Texas History and School Board Interactions., interview by Dayla Weems, 2018.
 ³¹⁰ Ibid

³¹¹ "Imperial, Texas Population 2022," worldpopulationreview.com, 2022, https://worldpopulationreview.com/us-cities/imperial-tx-population.

³¹² Cruz Gomez, Imperial Texas History and School Board Interactions., interview by Dayla Weems, 2018.
 ³¹³ Ibid.

³¹⁴ Causal: A relationship between two things in which one causes the other. (For more information on causal relationships see Matt Petronzio, "Google Maps: Tree Density Tells the Story of Income)

 ³¹⁵ Texas State Historical Association, "Imperial, TX (Pecos County)," Texas State Historical Association, accessed March 24, 2018, https://www.tshaonline.org/handbook/entries/imperial-tx-pecos-county.
 ³¹⁶ Ibid

³¹⁷ Cruz Gomez, Imperial Texas History and School Board Interactions., interview by Dayla Weems, 2018.

³¹⁸ "Imperial, Texas Population 2022," worldpopulationreview.com, 2022, https://worldpopulationreview.com/uscities/imperial-tx-population.

³¹⁹ See map in appendix.

³²⁰ School Board President, Cruz Gomez shared explicit information about the agreement. The agreement allows for the county to occasionally occupy school property and use its facilities for meetings, trainings and other services in turn for assisting the school when it needs to repair those facilities. For example the county provided a manlift to repair the lights on the school football field, filling in potholes in the parking lot, repainting the crosswalks, etc. The agreement had been in place since the establishment of the school, however, it was not really utilized until the school was on the brink of closing down around 2012. In 2000 the town population was about 430 and in the 2010s the school population declined to 90 students from Pre K-12th grade. The county believed shutting down the school and providing transportation for Imperial students to Fort Stockton would be the best option. However, they were able to keep the school open by hiring a new Superintendent and providing a school bus route for transfer students from other local districts. The school made themselves attractive by promoting their school on websites and wordof-mouth from people who had friends or relatives that decided to make the switch to BVISD in earlier years. It promotes the small class sizes, athletics, and the dual-credit opportunities.

³²¹ Eric Gomez, History of Imperial Texas, interview by Dayla Weems, 2018.

322 Ibid..

323 Ibid.

³²⁴ Cruz Gomez, Imperial Texas History and School Board Interactions., interview by Dayla Weems, 2018. There had been a discussion with the school board and the county about building affordable housing in 2014, however, since the town had no other business, gas station, grocery store, restaurant, etc. the county denied the proposition because it was very unlikely for people to desire to live there.

³²⁵ Rooney Inc's influence is limited because so much land is owned or operated by the school. Their influence may be on who is able to reside on the plot of land that they own. Their plot of land is considered "untouchable" by school board member Eric Gomez.

³²⁶ Cruz Gomez, Imperial Texas History and School Board Interactions., interview by Dayla Weems, 2018. Fund balance is leftover money from the year for BVISD. They are allotted so much for taxing to be kept in the district, and oftentimes they don't use it all. So instead of just sending the state what they had leftover, they decided to utilize the leftover money to buy land and houses for the teachers and employees of the school district. The majority of the homes and land are paid for, if they are not, they will pull from the schools fund balance to pay them off. This happens annually.

³²⁷ Cruz Gomez, Imperial Texas History and School Board Interactions., interview by Dayla Weems, 2018.

³²⁸ There were a variety of homes, the few were dispersed throughout town had four or more bedrooms, a backyard and large front lawn. The others were walking distance from the school which were a little smaller, they consisted of 3 bedrooms and a front lawn.

³²⁹ Cruz Gomez, Imperial Texas History and School Board Interactions., interview by Dayla Weems, 2018.
 ³³⁰ Ibid..

³³¹ David Whaley, Education Journey: Interview with David Whaley, interview by Dayla Weems, July 15, 2022.
 ³³² Ibid.

³³³ Ibid.

³³⁴ David Whaley, 2022 Update interview with David Whaley, interview by Davla Weems, March 12, 2022.

³³⁷ Ibid.

³³⁸ "U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: Pecos City, Texas," www.census.gov, 2020,

https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/pecoscitytexas.

³³⁹ "Search for Public School Districts - District Detail for PECOS-BARSTOW-TOYAH ISD," nces.ed.gov, 2022, https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/districtsearch/district_detail.asp?ID2=4834550.

³⁴⁰ Ibid.

³³⁵ Ibid.

³³⁶ Ibid.

³⁴¹ David Whaley, 2022 Update interview with David Whaley, interview by Dayla Weems, March 12, 2022. ³⁴² Ibid. ³⁴³ Ibid. ³⁴⁴ Ibid. ³⁴⁵ Ibid. ³⁴⁶ Ibid. ³⁴⁷ Ibid. ³⁴⁸ Ibid. ³⁴⁹ Ibid. ³⁵⁰ Ibid. ³⁵¹ Ibid. ³⁵² Ibid. ³⁵³ Ibid. ³⁵⁴ Ibid. ³⁵⁵ Ibid. ³⁵⁶ Ibid. ³⁵⁷ Ibid. ³⁵⁸ Ibid. 359 Ibid. ³⁶⁰ Ibid. ³⁶¹ Ethen Evans, Interview with Ethen Evans., interview by Dayla Weems, 2019. ³⁶² Ibid. ³⁶³ Emmanuel Rojas, Interview with Emmanuel Rojas., interview by Dayla Weems, May 21, 2022. ³⁶⁴ Ibid. ³⁶⁵ Ibid. ³⁶⁶ Ibid. ³⁶⁷ Ibid. ³⁶⁸ Ibid. ³⁶⁹ Ibid.. ³⁷⁰ Ibid. ³⁷¹ Ibid. ³⁷² Ibid. ³⁷³ Ibid. ³⁷⁴ Ibid. ³⁷⁵ Ibid. ³⁷⁶ Ibid. 377 Ibid. ³⁷⁸ Ibid. ³⁷⁹ David Whaley, Education Journey: Interview with David Whaley, interview by Dayla Weems, July 15, 2022. ³⁸⁰ Ibid.. ³⁸¹ Ibid. ³⁸² Ibid. ³⁸³ Ibid. ³⁸⁴ Site built by: Salary.com, "Oil Rig Salary in Texas," Salary.com, accessed June 12, 2022, https://www.salary.com/research/salary/posting/oil-rig-salary/tx. ³⁸⁵ David Whaley, Hidden Transcripts of the Oil Industry: Interview with David Whaley., interview by Dayla Weems, May 8, 2020. ³⁸⁶ Ibid. ³⁸⁷ Ibid. 388 Ibid. 389 Ibid. ³⁹⁰ Ibid. ³⁹¹ Ibid. ³⁹² Emmanuel Rojas, Interview with Emmanuel Rojas., interview by Dayla Weems, May 21, 2022.

³⁹³ Ibid..

Bibliographies

Introduction

Bibliography

- Carrasco, Stephanie. COVID update with Stephanie Carrasco. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2020. ———. Interview with Stephanie Carrasco. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2019.
- Carreon, Victor. Everyday Violence in the Oilfield. Interview by Dayla Whaley, April 28, 2020.
- Collier, Ken, Steven Galatas, and Julie Harrelson-Stephens. Lone Star Politics. CQ Press, 2016.
- Desmond, Matthew. *Evicted: Poverty and Profit in the American City*. New York: B\D\W\Y, Broadway Books, 2016.
- Dominguez, Estrella. COVID update with Estrella Dominguez. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2021.
- ———. Interview with Estrella Dominguez. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2019.
- Ehrenreich, Barbara. Nickel and Dimed. Henry Holt and Company, 2001.
- Evans, Cassie. Interview with Cassie Evans. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2019.
- Evans, Ethen. Interview with Ethen Evans. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2019.
- Fabela, Elida. Interview with Ana Maria's Mother. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2019.
- Fabela, Irene, Georgiana Fabela, and Norma Whaley. Conversation with Ana Maria's relatives. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2019.
- Fuentez, Maricela. Interview with Maricela Fuentez. Interview by Dayla Weems, June 21, 2021.
- Goldstein, Amy. Janesville: An American Story. Simon and Schuster, 2017.
- Gomez, Cruz. Imperial Texas History and School Board Interactions. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2018.
- Gomez, Eric. History of Imperial Texas. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2018.
- Hunt, Milton. Experience as a black educator in West Texas. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2019.
- Jimenez, Ana Maria. COVID Update with Ana Maria. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2020.
- ———. Interview with Ana Maria. Interview by Dayla Whaley, October 14, 2019.
- Nájera, Jennifer R. The Borderlands of Race. University of Texas Press, 2015.
- Rojas, Emmanuel. Interview with Emmanuel Rojas. Interview by Dayla Whaley, May 21, 2022.
- Ross, Andrew. "The Case for Scholarly Reporting." The Minnesota Review 2009, no. 71-72
 - (May 1, 2009): 242–47. https://doi.org/10.1215/00265667-2009-71-72-242.

- Whaley, David. 2022 Update interview with David Whaley. Interview by Dayla Whaley, March 12, 2022.
- . COVID Update with David Whaley. Interview by Dayla Whaley, May 17, 2020.
- ———. Education Journey: Interview with David Whaley. Interview by Dayla Whaley, July 15, 2022.
- ———. Experience in Imperial Texas. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2018.
- ———. Hidden Transcripts of the Oil Industry: Interview with David Whaley. Interview by Dayla Whaley, May 8, 2020.
- Whetsel, Jessica. COVID Update with Jessica Whetsel. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2019.
- ———. Interview with Jessica Whetsel. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2019.

Chapter 1

Bibliography

- Cadava, Geraldo L. *The Hispanic Republican the Shaping of an American Political Identity, from Nixon to Trump.* New York, NY: Ecco, an imprint of HarperCollins Publishers, 2021.
- Carson, David . "Map of the Regions of Texas." www.texascounties.net, 2022. http://www.texascounties.net/statistics/regions.htm.
- Jimenez, Ana Maria. COVID Update with Ana Maria. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2020.

———. Interview with Ana Maria Jimenez. Interview by Dayla Whaley, October 14, 2019.

- Potter, Lloyd. "TDC Texas Population Estimates Program." Texas.gov, 2020. https://demographics.texas.gov/Data/TPEPP/Estimates/.
 - . "Texas & San Antonio: Characteristics and Trends of the Hispanic Population ." https://demographics.texas.gov/, November 10, 2011.

https://www.google.com/url?client=internal-element-

cse&cx=012231170802480257182:wk6znveavj8&q=https://demographics.texas.gov/Res ources/Presentations/OSD/2012/2012_09_27_Hispanic_Leadership_Summit.pdf&sa=U& ved=2ahUKEwi13K3mkf75AhW_FlkFHbg3B3UQFnoECAQQAg&usg=AOvVaw1xqze wfRyOyL_uHUcvo795.

redistricting.capitol.texas.gov. "History," 2022.

https://redistricting.capitol.texas.gov/history#maps-section.

- Svitek, Patrick. "Gov. Greg Abbott to Allow Texas Hair Salons and Pools to Reopen Friday and Gyms to Open May 18." The Texas Tribune, May 5, 2020. https://www.texastribune.org/2020/05/05/texas-reopening-hair-salons-gyms-greg-abbott/.
- Vigdor, Neil. "Dallas Salon Owner Is Jailed for Defying Order to Stay Closed." *The New York Times*, May 6, 2020, sec. U.S. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/05/us/dallas-salon-opens-coronavirus.html.
- Walters, Edgar. "Texas Governor Declares Statewide Emergency, Says State Will Soon Be Able to Test Thousands." The Texas Tribune, March 13, 2020. https://www.texastribune.org/2020/03/13/texas-coronavirus-cases-state-emergency-gregabbott/.

- www.census.gov. "U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: El Paso City, Texas," 2022. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/elpasocitytexas.
- www.census.gov. "U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: Fort Stockton City, Texas," 2022. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/fortstocktoncitytexas/AGE295221.
- www.census.gov. "U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: Midland City, Texas," 2022. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/midlandcitytexas.
- www.txdot.gov. "Reference Maps," 2022. https://www.txdot.gov/data-maps/referencemaps.html.

Chapter 2

Bibliography

- Adams-Heard, Rachel. "Welcome to the 'Man Camps' of West Texas." www.bloomberg.com, August 7, 2018. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2018-08-07/welcome-to-theman-camps-of-west-texas.
- Beyer, Leslie Shockley . "Women in Oil & Gas | SHALE Magazine Oil & Gas." SHALE Magazine, December 11, 2019. https://shalemag.com/where-are-the-women-in-oil-gasweve-always-been-here/.

Carreon, Victor. Everyday Violence in the Oilfield. Interview by Dayla Whaley, April 28, 2020.

Fuentez, Maricela. Interview with Maricela Fuentez. Interview by Dayla Whaley, June 16, 2021.

- Milner, Larry S. "The History of Texas Business: A Selected Bibliography." The Southwestern Historical Quarterly 99, no. 2 (1995): 217–44. https://www.jstor.org/stable/30239015.
- nces.ed.gov. "Search for Public School Districts District Detail for PECOS-BARSTOW-TOYAH ISD," 2022.

https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/districtsearch/district_detail.asp?ID2=4834550.

- Odessa TX | Economic Development. "Demographics," August 2, 2017. https://odessatex.com/research-reports/demographics/.
- "Oil Field." In *Merriam-Webster.com Dictionary*. Merriam-Webster, 2020. https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/oil%20field.
- Olien, Roger M. "TSHA | Oil and Gas Industry." www.tshaonline.org. Texas State Historical Association, December 1, 1995. https://www.tshaonline.org/handbook/entries/oil-and-gas-industry.
- Whaley, David. COVID Update with David Whaley. Interview by Dayla Whaley, May 17, 2020.
 ———. Hidden Transcripts of the Oil Industry: Interview with David Whaley. Interview by Dayla Whaley, May 8, 2020.
- www.census.gov. "U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: Midland County, Texas," 2022. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/midlandcountytexas.

Chapter 3

Bibliography

Association, Texas State Historical. "Imperial, TX (Pecos County)." Texas State Historical Association. Accessed March 24, 2018.

https://www.tshaonline.org/handbook/entries/imperial-tx-pecos-county.

Evans, Ethen. Interview with Ethen Evans. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2019.

Gomez, Cruz. Imperial Texas History and School Board Interactions. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2018.

Gomez, Eric. History of Imperial Texas. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2018.

Hunt, Milton. Experience as a black educator in West Texas. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2019.

Rojas, Emmanuel. Interview with Emmanuel Rojas. Interview by Dayla Whaley, May 21, 2022.

Salary.com, Site built by: "Oil Rig Salary in Texas." Salary.com. Accessed June 12, 2022.

https://www.salary.com/research/salary/posting/oil-rig-salary/tx.

Whaley, David. 2022 Update interview with David Whaley. Interview by Dayla Whaley, March 12, 2022.

———. COVID Update with David Whaley. Interview by Dayla Whaley, May 17, 2020.

- ———. Education Journey: Interview with David Whaley. Interview by Dayla Whaley, July 15, 2022.
- ———. Experience in Imperial Texas. Interview by Dayla Whaley, 2018.
- ———. Hidden Transcripts of the Oil Industry: Interview with David Whaley. Interview by Dayla Whaley, May 8, 2020.

worldpopulationreview.com. "Imperial, Texas Population 2022," 2022.

https://worldpopulationreview.com/us-cities/imperial-tx-population.

www.census.gov. "U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: Pecos City, Texas," 2020.

https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/pecoscitytexas.

Appendix

